# PERTURBATION OF WELL POSEDNESS FOR HIGHER ORDER ELLIPTIC SYSTEMS WITH ROUGH COEFFICIENTS

# ARIEL BARTON

ABSTRACT. In this paper we study boundary value problems for higher order elliptic differential operators in divergence form. We consider the two closely related topics of inhomogeneous problems and problems with boundary data in fractional smoothness spaces.

We establish  $L^{\infty}$  perturbative results concerning well posedness of inhomogeneous problems with boundary data in fractional smoothness spaces.

Combined with earlier known results, this allows us to establish new well posedness results for second order operators whose coefficients are close to being real and t-independent and for fourth-order operators close to the biharmonic operator.

# Contents

1. Introduction	2
1.1. The history of the problem and function spaces	2
1.2. The main results of this paper	6
1.3. Historical remarks on $L^{\infty}$ perturbation	9
1.4. New well posedness results derived from Theorems 1.16	10
1.5. Outline of the paper	14
Acknowledgements	15
2. Definitions	15
3. Properties of function spaces	16
3.1. Embedding results, compatibility and uniqueness	17
4. $L^{\infty}$ perturbation and well posedness	18
4.1. Reduction to the case of homogeneous boundary values	19
4.2. Perturbation of existence	20
4.3. Duality	22
4.4. Perturbation of full well posedness	26
5. Energy solutions and well posedness near $p = 2, s = 1/2$	26
5.1. Boundedness of the Newton potential for constant coefficients	26
5.2. Interpolation	30
5.3. Proof of Theorem 1.15	34
6. Known results reformulated in the notation of the present paper	35
6.1. The biharmonic equation	35
6.2. Real symmetric <i>t</i> -independent coefficients if $m = N = 1$ and $d = 2$	41
References	42

<sup>2010</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 35J58, Secondary 35J08, 31B20.

Key words and phrases. Higher order differential equation, inhomogeneous differential equation, Dirichlet problem, Neumann problem.

#### ARIEL BARTON

## 1. INTRODUCTION

In this paper we will consider the theory of boundary value problems for elliptic differential operators L of the form

(1.1) 
$$(L\vec{u})_j = \sum_{k=1}^N \sum_{|\alpha|=|\beta|=m} \partial^{\alpha} (A^{jk}_{\alpha\beta} \partial^{\beta} u_k)$$

of arbitrary even order 2m, for bounded measurable coefficients A. We will require A to satisfy certain positive definiteness assumptions (see the bounds (2.2) and (2.3) below). In the case of rough coefficients, it is appropriate to formulate the operator L in the weak sense; we say that  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H}$  in  $\Omega$  if

(1.2) 
$$\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{u} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} \text{ for all } \vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  denotes the standard inner product on  $L^2(\Omega)$ .

We are interested in the Dirichlet problem

(1.3) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{H} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{f}, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\mathfrak{X}} \le C \|\dot{f}\|_{\mathfrak{D}} + C \|\dot{H}\|_{\mathfrak{Y}}$$

for some appropriate function spaces  $\mathfrak{X}$ ,  $\mathfrak{D}$  and  $\mathfrak{Y}$ . Here  $\dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \mathrm{Tr}^{\Omega} \nabla^{m-1} \vec{u}$ , where Tr is the standard boundary trace operator of Sobolev spaces; see [Barb, Definition 2.4].

We are also interested in the Neumann problem. It turns out that even formulating the Neumann problem in the case of higher order equations is a difficult matter; see [CG85, Ver05, Agr07, MM13b, BHMb] for some varied formulations and [Ver10, BM16a, BHMb] for a discussion of related issues. Following [BHMb], we will let the Neumann boundary values  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}} \vec{u}$  of a solution  $\vec{u}$  to  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}$ be given by

(1.4) 
$$\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{u} - \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \nabla^{m-1} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}} \vec{u} \rangle_{\partial \Omega} \text{ for all } \vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Observe that by the weak formulation (1.2) of  $L\vec{u}$  above, if  $\partial\Omega$  is connected then the expression  $\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \mathbf{A} \nabla^m \vec{u} - \dot{\mathbf{H}} \rangle_{\Omega}$  depends only on  $\dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}$ . Thus, formula (1.5) defines  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathbf{A},\dot{\mathbf{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u}$  as a linear operator on  $\{\nabla^{m-1}\vec{\varphi}: \vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)\}$ . Furthermore,  $\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \mathbf{A} \nabla^m \vec{u} - \dot{\mathbf{H}} \rangle_{\Omega}$  depends only on the values of  $\vec{\varphi}$  near  $\partial\Omega$ , and not on the values of  $\vec{\varphi}$  in the interior of  $\Omega$ , and so it is reasonable to regard  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\mathbf{A},\dot{\mathbf{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u}$  as boundary values of  $\vec{u}$ .

We are then interested in the Neumann problem

(1.5) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\mathfrak{X}} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\mathfrak{N}} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{\mathfrak{Y}}$$

for some appropriate function spaces  $\mathfrak{X}$ ,  $\mathfrak{N}$  and  $\mathfrak{Y}$ .

1.1. The history of the problem and function spaces. Consider the two special cases of the Dirichlet problem

(1.6) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\operatorname{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\mathfrak{X}} \leq C \|\dot{H}\|_{\mathfrak{Y}},$$

(1.7) 
$$L\vec{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \qquad \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{f}, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\mathfrak{X}} \le C \|\dot{f}\|_{\mathfrak{D}}.$$

When studying the problem (1.7), it is often appropriate to choose the function spaces  $\mathfrak{X}$  and  $\mathfrak{D}$  such that  $\mathfrak{D} = \{ \operatorname{Tr} \nabla^{m-1} \vec{F} : \vec{F} \in \mathfrak{X} \}$ . Conversely, when studying the problem (1.6) it is appropriate to choose  $\mathfrak{X} = \{ \vec{F} : \mathbf{A} \nabla^m \vec{F} \in \mathfrak{Y} \}$ .

With these choices of  $\mathfrak{X}$  and  $\mathfrak{D}$ , it is possible to reduce the problem (1.7) to the problem (1.6): if we let  $\vec{F}$  be an extension of  $\dot{f}$ , and let  $\vec{v}$  solve the problem (1.6) with  $\dot{H} = A \nabla^m \vec{F}$ , then  $u = \vec{F} - \vec{v}$  solves the problem (1.7). This technique was used, for example, in [MMS10] and [MM13b, Theorem 6.33]. See also Lemma 4.1 below.

Conversely, it is often possible to solve  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H}$  in  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (see, for example, Section 5.1 below); under these circumstances, solutions to the problem (1.7) may be used to correct the boundary values and solve the problem (1.6) or the full Dirichlet problem (1.3). This technique has been used many times in the literature; see, for example, [JK95, AP98, MM13a, BM16b] and [MM13b, Theorems 6.34 and 6.36], or Lemma 6.14 below.

For a number of operators of order 2m with smooth or constant coefficients, the Dirichlet problem (1.6) has been shown to be well-posed in the case where  $\Omega$ is a Lipschitz domain,  $\mathfrak{X}$  is the Bessel potential space  $L^p_{m-1+s+1/p}(\Omega)$ , and  $\mathfrak{Y} = L^p_{s+1/p-1}(\Omega)$ , for 0 < s < 1 and for certain values of p depending on L, s and  $\Omega$ . In particular, in [JK95], well-posedness was established for  $L = \Delta$  and certain pwith  $1 ; some extensions to the case <math>p \leq 1$  were established in [MM04]. In [AP98, MMW11, MM13a], similar results were established for the biharmonic operator  $L = \Delta^2$ , and in [MM13b] results were established for general constantcoefficient operators. In the case of operators with variable Lipschitz continuous coefficients, some well-posedness results were established in [Agr07].

If solutions  $\vec{u}$  lie in the space  $\mathfrak{X} = L^p_{m-1+s+1/p}(\Omega)$ , then the appropriate space  $\mathfrak{D}$ of Dirichlet boundary values to extend to the problem (1.3) is the space of Whitney arrays  $WA^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)$ . This is a subspace of the Besov space  $(B^{p,p}_s(\partial\Omega))^r$ , where r is the number of multiindices of length m-1; if m=1 then  $WA^p_{0,s}(\partial\Omega) = B^{p,p}_s(\partial\Omega)$ , but if  $m \geq 2$  then  $WA^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)$  is a proper subspace. (This reflects the fact that, if  $m-1 \geq 1$ , then  $\nabla^{m-1}u$  is an array of partial derivatives and thus must satisfy appropriate compatibility conditions.)

The parameter s measures smoothness; thus, we emphasize that in the above results, the Dirichlet boundary data  $\mathbf{T}\mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega}\mathbf{\vec{u}}$  always has between zero and one degree of smoothness.

The Neumann problem (1.5) has also been studied. In the case of the harmonic operator  $L = \Delta$  ([FMM98, Zan00, MM04]), biharmonic operator  $L = \Delta^2$ ([MM13a]), and general constant coefficient operators ([MM13b]), well-posedness has been established in Lipschitz domains, again for  $\mathfrak{X} = L_{m-1+s+1/p}^p(\Omega)$  and  $\mathfrak{Y} = L_{s+1/p-1}^p(\Omega), 0 < s < 1$ , and certain values of p. In this case, the appropriate space of boundary data is  $\mathfrak{N} = NA_{m-1,s-1}^p(\partial\Omega)$ , a quotient space of the negative smoothness space  $(B_{s-1}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega))^r$ . See also [Agr07] for the case of operators with Lipschitz continuous coefficients.

*Remark* 1.8. In both the Dirichlet and Neumann problems discussed above, boundary values are expected to lie in fractional smoothness spaces. We may also consider the problem (1.7), or the similar Neumann problem

(1.9) 
$$L\vec{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A},0}^{\Omega} \, \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\mathfrak{X}} \le C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\mathfrak{N}},$$

with boundary data in integer smoothness spaces (that is, Lebesgue spaces  $L^p(\partial\Omega)$ or Sobolev spaces  $\dot{W}^p_{\pm 1}(\partial\Omega)$ ). However, this requires spaces of solutions  $\mathfrak{X}$  for which the corresponding problem (1.6) is ill-posed (even in particularly nice cases, such

# ARIEL BARTON

as the case of harmonic functions  $L = \Delta$  in the upper half-space  $\mathbb{R}^d_+$ ). Thus, the theory of inhomogeneous problems  $(L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H}$  rather than  $L\vec{u} = 0$ ) is deeply and inextricably connected to the theory of boundary data in fractional smoothness spaces.

Although we will not consider boundary data in integer smoothness spaces, we mention some of the known results. The Dirichlet problem for the biharmonic operator  $\Delta^2$  or polyharmonic operator  $\Delta^m$ ,  $m \geq 3$ , with data in  $L^p(\partial\Omega)$ , was investigated in [SS81, CG83, DKV86, Ver87, Ver90, She06a], and with data in the Sobolev space  $W_1^p(\partial\Omega)$  in [Ver90, PV92, MM10, KS11a]. The  $L^p$  or  $W_1^p$ -Dirichlet problems for more general higher order constant coefficient operators were investigated in [PV95, Ver96, She06b, KS11b]. The  $L^p$ -Neumann problem has been investigated for the biharmonic operator in [CG85, Ver05, She07, MM13b]. Very little is known in the case of higher order variable coefficient operators; the  $L^2$ -Neumann problem for self-adjoint t-independent coefficients in the half-space  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d_+$  was shown to be well posed in the recent preprint [BHMa], and the Dirichlet problem for fourthorder operators of a form other than (1.1) with  $L^2$  boundary data was solved in [BM13a]. See the author's survey paper with Mayboroda [BM16a] for a more extensive discussion of these results. We omit discussion of the extensive literature concerning second order boundary value problems (the case m = 1) with data in integer smoothness spaces.

We are interested in boundary value problems for operators of the form (1.2) with rough coefficients  $\mathbf{A}$ . We still consider boundary data in Besov spaces. However, the space  $\mathfrak{X} = L_{m-1+s+1/p}^{p}(\Omega)$  is not an appropriate space in which to seek solutions, because this space requires that the gradient  $\nabla^{m}\vec{u}$  of a solution  $\vec{u}$  display s + 1/p - 1 degrees of smoothness, and if  $\mathbf{A}$  is rough then  $\nabla^{m}u$  may be rough as well. See [BM16b, Chapter 10]. Another possible solution space  $\mathfrak{X}$  is suggested by the theory for constant coefficients. In [JK95] and [AP98], it was established that if  $\Delta^{m}u = 0$  in  $\Omega$ , for m = 1 or m = 2, then for appropriate p and s we have that  $u \in L_{m-1+s+1/p}^{p}(\Omega)$  if and only if  $u \in W_{m-1}^{p}(\Omega)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla^m u(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps} \, dx < \infty.$$

We may thus seek to control the above norm of our solutions, rather than the  $L^p_{m-1+s+1/p}(\Omega)$ -norm.

In [MMS10], Maz'ya, Mitrea and Shaposhnikova established well-posedness of the Dirichlet problem (1.3) for operators L with variable VMO coefficients, with  $\mathfrak{D} = WA_{m-1,s}^p(\partial\Omega)$  as usual, but with the norm on solutions given by

(1.10) 
$$\|\vec{u}\|_{W^{p,s}_{m}(\Omega)} = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{m} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla^{k}\vec{u}(x)|^{p} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx\right)^{1/p}.$$

In [BM16b], Mayboroda and the author of the present paper investigated the Dirichlet and Neumann problems (1.3) and (1.5) in the case m = N = 1, for coefficients constant in the vertical direction but merely bounded measurable in the horizontal directions, in the domain above a Lipschitz graph. We established well-posedness for certain s and p in the case of real symmetric coefficients (the Neumann problem) or general real coefficients (the Dirichlet problem), with  $\mathfrak{D} = \dot{B}_{s,p}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)$  and  $\mathfrak{N} = \dot{B}_{s,p}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)$  as usual. We used a somewhat different choice of solution

space  $\mathfrak{X}$ ; specifically, we let  $\mathfrak{X} = \dot{W}_{1,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ , where  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  is the set of (equivalence classes of) functions u for which the  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ -norm given by

(1.11) 
$$\|u\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} = \|\nabla^m u\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)},$$
  
(1.12)  $\|\dot{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} = \left(\int_{\Omega} \left(\int_{B(x,\operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)/2)} |\dot{H}|^2\right)^{p/2} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx\right)^{1/p}$ 

is finite. (Two functions are equivalent if their difference has norm zero; if  $\Omega$  is open and connected then two functions are equivalent if they differ by a polynomial of degree at most m - 1.) Here f denotes the averaged integral  $f_B H = \frac{1}{|B|} \int_B H$ . This norm was also used in [AA16], where somewhat more general second order operators (in particular, the case  $N \geq 1$ ) was considered.

We chose to use homogeneous norms (that is, to bound only  $\nabla^m u$  and not any of the lower order derivatives) because we were working in unbounded domains, and homogeneous norms are in many ways more convenient in that context. It is also possible to consider homogeneous norms in bounded Lipschitz domains. In particular, if  $\partial\Omega$  is connected then  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u}$  determines the lower-order derivatives up to adding polynomials, and so we can recover the inhomogeneous results. However, if  $\partial\Omega$  is disconnected, then  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u}$  does not determine the lower-order derivatives, and so throughout this paper we will consider only domains with connected boundary.

The  $L_{av}^{p,s}$ -norm of [BM16b] involves  $L^2$  averages over Whitney balls. These averages are useful both in the case of p large and in the case p < 1.

Finiteness of the  $W_m^{p,s}$ -norm (1.10) requires that the gradient  $\nabla^m \vec{u}$  of a solution be locally *p*th-power integrable. This is a reasonable assumption, even for *p* large, if the coefficients are constant, or even merely *VMO*. However, for rough coefficients, the best we can expect is for  $\nabla^m \vec{u}$  to be locally square-integrable, or at best *q*th-power integrable for  $q < 2 + \varepsilon$  and  $\varepsilon$  possibly very small. (In the secondorder case, this expectation comes from the Caccioppoli inequality and Meyers's reverse Hölder inequality; both may be generalized to the higher order case, as in [Cam80, AQ00, Bar16].) The technique of bounding  $L^2$  averages of gradients on Whitney balls, rather than the gradients themselves, is common in the theory of elliptic differential equations; see, for example, the modified nontangential maximal function introduced in [KP93] and used extensively in the literature.

Conversely, if s > 0 and  $p \ge 1$ , then finiteness of the  $W_m^{p,s}$ -norm (1.10) ensures that  $\nabla^m \vec{u}$  is locally integrable up to the boundary. This useful property ensures that the Dirichlet and Neumann boundary values of  $\vec{u}$  are meaningful. However, if p < 1 then finiteness of the  $W_m^{p,s}$ -norm (1.10) does not ensure local integrability, and so it is not clear that the trace operator is well-defined on such spaces. However, if s > 0 and p > (d-1)/(d-1+s), then finiteness of the  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}$ -norm (1.11) does ensure local integrability; see [BM16b, Theorem 6.1] or [Barb, Lemma 3.7]. Thus, using the averaged norm allows us to consider at least some values of p < 1.

We remark that the requirement p > (d-1)/(d-1+s) appears also in [MM04, MM13b], and for similar reasons: the condition  $u \in L^p_{m-1+s+1/p}(\Omega)$  ensures local integrability of  $\nabla^m u$  for precisely the given range of p.

In this paper, we will investigate the Dirichlet problem

(1.13) 
$$\begin{cases} L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^{p}_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)} \end{cases}$$

and the Neumann problem

(1.14) 
$$\begin{cases} L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p, s}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p, s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A^{p}_{m-1, s-1}(\partial\Omega)} \end{cases}$$

where  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  and  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  are given by formulas (1.11) and (1.12), and the boundary spaces  $\dot{W}A^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)$  and  $\dot{N}A^p_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)$  are as defined in [Barb, Section 2.2]. These are the homogeneous counterparts to the spaces mentioned above; the main result of [Barb] is that they are the spaces of Dirichlet and Neumann traces of  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  functions.

We say that these problems are well posed if, for every  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  and every  $\dot{\boldsymbol{f}} \in \dot{W}A^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)$  or  $\dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \in \dot{N}A^p_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)$ , there is exactly one  $\vec{u} \in \dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  that satisfies  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  and  $\operatorname{Tr}^{\Omega}_{m-1}\vec{u} = \boldsymbol{f}$  or  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{A,\dot{H}}\vec{u} = \boldsymbol{g}$ , and if that  $\vec{u}$  satisfies the given quantitative bound  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\boldsymbol{\dot{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)}$  or  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\boldsymbol{\dot{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)}$ .

1.2. The main results of this paper. The most general result of this paper is the following theorem.

**Theorem 1.15.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Let L be an elliptic system of the form (1.1), whose coefficients  $\mathbf{A}$  satisfy the ellipticity condition (2.3) and the uniform boundedness condition (2.1).

Then there is some  $\varepsilon > 0$ , depending only on m, d, the Lipschitz character of  $\Omega$ , and the constants  $\lambda$  and  $\Lambda$  in formulas (2.1) and (2.3), such that if  $|p-2| < \varepsilon$  and  $|s-1/2| < \varepsilon$ , then the Neumann problem (1.14) is well posed.

We remark that this theorem is a well posedness result valid for *all* bounded elliptic coefficient matrices A; we impose no smoothness assumptions on the coefficients. We will prove this theorem in Section 5.

The p = 2, s = 1/2 case of Theorem 1.15 follows from the Lax-Milgram lemma by a straightforward and well known argument. An equivalent result for the Dirichlet problem was proven in [MMS10, Section 8.1]; in the case m = 1, see also [Mey63, Theorem 1] and [BM13b, Theorem 5.1]. If s = 1 - 1/p (with no restrictions on m, and for either the Dirichlet or Neumann problems), then the result was established by Brewster, D. Mitrea, I. Mitrea, and M. Mitrea in [BMMM14], in somewhat more general domains. If L has constant coefficients, then a very similar theorem (using Bessel potential spaces and more general Besov spaces) was established by I. Mitrea and M. Mitrea in [MM13b] using the method of layer potentials.

Our second main result is a perturbative result. Theorem 1.16 states that, if boundary value problems for some operator L are well posed, then they are also well posed for any other operator M whose coefficients are sufficiently close (in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ) to those of L. We will prove Theorem 1.16 in Section 4. In Section 1.3, we will discuss the history of such perturbation results. In Section 1.4, we will combine Theorem 1.16 with known results from the literature to establish new well posedness results.

**Theorem 1.16.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary, let 0 < s < 1, and let  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) . Then there is some constant <math>C_1$  depending only on p, s, the dimension d, and the Lipschitz character of  $\Omega$ , with the following significance.

Let L and M be operators of the form (1.1) acting on functions defined in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , with the same values of m and N, associated to bounded coefficients A and B. Let  $\varepsilon = \|\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{B}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ .

Suppose that there is some constant  $C_0$  such that the Dirichlet problem

(1.17)  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\Phi} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C_{0} \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$ is well posed. If  $\varepsilon < 1/C_{1}C_{0}$ , then the Dirichlet problem

(1.18) 
$$\begin{cases} M\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \leq C_{2} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C_{2}C_{3} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^{p}_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)} \end{cases}$$

is well posed. Here  $C_3$  depends only on p, s, the dimension d and the Lipschitz character of  $\Omega$ , and

$$C_2 = \frac{C_0}{1 - C_0 \varepsilon} \text{ if } p \ge 1, \qquad C_2 = \left(\frac{C_0^p}{1 - C_0^p \varepsilon^p}\right)^{1/p} \text{ if } p \le 1.$$

Similarly, suppose that there is some constant  $C_0$  such that the Neumann problem (1.19)  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A},\dot{\Phi}} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C_0 \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$ is well posed. If  $\varepsilon < 1/C_1C_0$ , then the Neumann problem

(1.20) 
$$\begin{cases} M\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{B}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p, s}(\Omega)} \leq C_{2} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p, s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C_{2}C_{3} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A^{p}_{m-1, s-1}(\partial\Omega)} \end{cases}$$

is also well posed.

In applying Theorem 1.16, especially in analyzing a range of p and s, the following two lemmas are often helpful. Lemma 1.21 is a duality result; Lemma 1.22 is an interpolation result. Both will be used in Section 1.4.

**Lemma 1.21.** Let  $\Omega$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary and let L be an operator of the form (1.1) associated to bounded coefficients  $\mathbf{A}$ . Let 0 < s < 1 and let  $1 \leq p < \infty$ .

Let s' = 1 - s, and let p' be the extended real number that satisfies 1/p + 1/p' = 1. Let  $(A^*)_{\alpha\beta}^{jk} = \overline{A}_{\beta\alpha}^{kj}$ , and let  $L^*$  be the operator of the form (1.1) associated to the coefficients  $A^*$ .

If there is a constant  $C_0$  such that the Dirichlet problem

$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}},$$
$$\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \le C_{0} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} + C_{0} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A_{m-1,s}^{p}(\partial\Omega)}$$

is well posed, then there is a constant  $C_1$  such that the problem

 $L^{*}\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\Phi}, \ \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\varphi}, \ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)} \le C_{1} \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L_{av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)} + C_{1} \|\dot{\varphi}\|_{\dot{W}A_{m-1,s'}^{p'}(\partial\Omega)}$ 

is well posed.

Similarly, if there is a constant  $C_0$  such that the Neumann problem

 $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p, s}(\Omega)} \leq C_{0} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p, s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C_{0} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A^{p}_{m-1, s-1}(\partial\Omega)}$ is well posed, then there is a  $C_{1}$  such that the problem

$$L^{*}\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\Phi}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}^{*}, \dot{\Phi}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)} \leq C_{1} \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L_{av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)} + C_{1} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}\|_{\dot{N}A_{m-1,s'-1}^{p'}(\partial\Omega)}$$

is well posed.

Lemma 1.21 will be proven in Section 4.3, as the  $p \ge 1$ ,  $p' \ge 1$  case of Theorems 4.7 and 4.12.

**Lemma 1.22.** Let  $\Omega$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary and let L be an operator of the form (1.1). Let  $0 < s_0 < 1$  and  $0 < s_1 < 1$ . Let  $p_0$  and  $p_1$  satisfy  $(d-1)/(d-1+s_j) < p_j < \infty$  for j = 0, 1.

If  $0 \le \sigma \le 1$ , then let  $s_{\sigma} = (1 - \sigma)s_0 + \sigma s_1$  and let  $1/p_{\sigma} = (1 - \sigma)/p_0 + \sigma/p_1$ . Suppose that the Dirichlet problems

(1.23) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\Phi}, \quad \operatorname{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_{0},s_{0}}(\Omega)} \leq C_{0} \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L_{av}^{p_{0},s_{0}}(\Omega)},$$

(1.24) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \Psi, \quad \operatorname{Tr}_{m-1}^{\mathfrak{U}} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega)} \le C_1 \|\Psi\|_{L_{av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega)}$$

are both well posed. Suppose furthermore that they are compatibly well posed in the sense that, if  $\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}} \in L^{p_0,s_0}_{av}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_1,s_1}_{av}(\Omega)$ , then there is a single solution  $\vec{u} \in \dot{W}^{p_0,s_0}_{m,av}(\Omega) \cap \dot{W}^{p_1,s_1}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  to both problems.

Then for every  $0 < \sigma < 1$ , there is some C > 0 depending on  $\sigma$ ,  $p_j$ ,  $s_j$ ,  $C_j$ and  $\Omega$ , such that for every  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}_{av}(\Omega)$  and  $\dot{\mathbf{f}} \in \dot{W}A^{p_{\sigma}}_{m-1,s_{\sigma}}(\partial\Omega)$ , there exists at least one solution to the Dirichlet problem

(1.25) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \boldsymbol{\dot{f}},$$
  
$$\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\boldsymbol{\dot{H}}\|_{L_{av}^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}(\Omega)} + C \|\boldsymbol{\dot{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A_{m-1,s_{\sigma}}^{p_{\sigma}}(\partial\Omega)}.$$

If  $1 < p_0 < \infty$  and  $1 < p_1 < \infty$ , then there is at most one solution to the Dirichlet problem (1.25) and so the problem is well posed.

Similarly, if the Neumann problems

(1.26) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \Phi, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{A, \dot{\Phi}}^{il} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p_{0}, s_{0}}(\Omega)} \le C_{0} \|\Phi\|_{L_{av}^{p_{0}, s_{0}}(\Omega)},$$

(1.27) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \Psi, \quad \mathbf{M}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\Psi}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p_{1}, s_{1}}(\Omega)} \le C_{1} \|\Psi\|_{L_{av}^{p_{1}, s_{1}}(\Omega)}$$

are both well posed and are compatibly well posed, then for every  $0<\sigma<1$  the Neumann problem

(1.28) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{H}, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}},$$
  
$$\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p_{\sigma}, s_{\sigma}}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L_{av}^{p_{\sigma}, s_{\sigma}}(\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A_{m-1, s_{\sigma}-1}^{p_{\sigma}}(\partial\Omega)}$$

has solutions, and if  $1 < p_0 < \infty$  and  $1 < p_1 < \infty$  then the problem is well posed.

This lemma will be proven at the end of Section 5.2. We remark that  $\{(s_{\sigma}, 1/p_{\sigma}) : 0 < \sigma < 1\}$  is the straight line segment connecting the points  $(s_0, 1/p_0)$  and  $(s_1, 1/p_1)$ .

By Corollary 3.10 below, if  $(d-1)/p_0 - s_0 = (d-1)/p_1 - s_1$ , or if  $\Omega$  is bounded,  $0 < s_0 < s_1 < 1$ , and  $(d-1)/p_1 - s_1 \leq (d-1)/p_0 - s_0$ , then the problems (1.23) and (1.24) or (1.26) and (1.27) are compatible in the above sense; furthermore, by Corollary 3.8, solutions to the problem (1.25) or (1.28) are unique and thus the problems are well posed.

The compatibility condition is not trivial; the main result of [Axe10] is an example of a second order operator L such that the Dirichlet problems

$$Lu = 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^2_+, \quad \text{Tr } u = f, \quad \|u\|_{T^p_{\infty}} \le \|f\|_{L^p(\partial \mathbb{R}^2_+)},$$
  
$$Lv = 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^2_+, \quad \text{Tr } v = f, \quad \|u\|_{\dot{W}^2_1(\mathbb{R}^2_+)} \le \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{1/2}(\partial \mathbb{R}^2_+)}$$

are both well posed, but for which  $u \neq v$  for some  $f \in L^p(\partial \mathbb{R}^2_+) \cap \dot{B}^{2,2}_{1/2}(\partial \mathbb{R}^2_+)$ . Here  $T^p_{\infty}$  is the tent space defined in [CMS85].

1.3. Historical remarks on  $L^{\infty}$  perturbation. Perturbation results such as Theorem 1.16 have been of interest in recent years. We mention one particular class of coefficients that has received a great deal of study. Suppose that m = 1, that  $\Omega = \{(x', t) : x' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}, t > \psi(x')\}$  is the domain above a Lipschitz graph, and that  $\boldsymbol{A}$  is t-independent in the sense that

(1.29) 
$$\mathbf{A}(x',t) = \mathbf{A}(x',s) = \mathbf{A}(x') \quad \text{for all } x' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1} \text{ and all } s, t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Then well-posedness of the Dirichlet problem (1.7) for  $L = \operatorname{div} \mathbf{A} \nabla$ , with  $\mathfrak{D} = L^2(\Omega)$ and  $\mathfrak{X} = \widetilde{T}^p_{\infty}$ , implies well-posedness of the Dirichlet problem  $M = \operatorname{div} \mathbf{B} \nabla$ , for *t*-independent  $\mathbf{B}$  sufficiently close to  $\mathbf{A}$ . This was established in full generality in [AAM10], and some previous versions were established in [FJK84, AAH08, AAA<sup>+</sup>11].

Here  $\tilde{T}_{\infty}^{p}$  is a "nontangential space" appropriate for studying boundary data in  $L^{p}(\partial\Omega)$ . (The space  $\tilde{T}_{\infty}^{p}$  is a generalization, essentially introduced in [KP93], of the tent space  $T_{\infty}^{p}$  defined in [CMS85]. See, for example, [HMM15a] for a precise definition of  $\tilde{T}_{\infty}^{p}$ .)

Similar results are valid for the Neumann problem (1.9) with  $\mathfrak{N} = L^2(\partial\Omega)$  and  $\mathfrak{X} = \nabla^{-1}(\widetilde{T}^2_{\infty})$ , where  $\nabla^{-1}(\widetilde{T}^2_{\infty})$  is the space of functions whose gradients lie in a nontangential space, and the Dirichlet problem (1.7) with  $\mathfrak{D} = \dot{W}_1^2(\partial\Omega)$  and  $\mathfrak{X} = \nabla^{-1}(\widetilde{T}^2_{\infty})$ , often called the "Dirichlet regularity" problem. Indeed, the stability result established in [AAA<sup>+</sup>11] required well-posedness of all three boundary value problems for A to establish any well-posedness results for B.

Some similar stability results are available for boundary data in  $L^p(\partial\Omega)$  for more general p; in particular, such stability results follow from the boundedness of layer potentials for *t*-independent coefficients established in [HMM15b] and the well known equivalence between invertibility of layer potentials and well-posedness of boundary value problems. (See [Ver84, BM13a, BM16b, HKMP15, Bara].)

A higher order stability result, for boundary data in  $L^2(\partial \mathbb{R}^d_+)$ , was established in [BHMa, Theorem 1.12].

Thus far, perturbation results for B not independent of  $t = x_d$  have been limited to Carleson-measure perturbation rather than  $L^{\infty}$  perturbation; that is, well

#### ARIEL BARTON

posedness results for A extend to well posedness results for B provided

$$\sup_{x \in \partial\Omega, r > 0} \left( \frac{1}{r^{d-1}} \int_{B(x,r) \cap \Omega} \left( \sup_{B(y, \operatorname{dist}(y, \partial\Omega)/2)} |\boldsymbol{B} - \boldsymbol{A}|^2 \right) \frac{1}{\operatorname{dist}(y, \partial\Omega)} \, dy \right)^{1/2}$$

is small. Notice that this is a stronger condition than smallness of  $||B - A||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)}$ . See the papers [Dah86, Fef89, FKP91, Fef93, KP93, KP95, DPP07, DR10, AA11, AR12, HMM15a] for such Carleson perturbation results. We remark that for the most part, the known results for Carleson measure perturbation concern well-posedness of problems with boundary data in integer smoothess spaces.

Our Theorem 1.16 allows for  $L^{\infty}$  perturbation of coefficients that are not *t*-independent; however, it also concerns only boundary value problems with boundary data in fractional smoothness spaces, rather than the Lebesgue and Sobolev spaces mentioned above.

1.4. New well posedness results derived from Theorems 1.16. In this section we review some known well posedness results from the literature, and we discuss how these well posedness results combine with Theorems 1.16 to yield new well posedness results.

1.4.1. Perturbation of second order operators with real t-independent coefficients. In [BM16b], the following well posedness results were established.

**Theorem 1.30** ([BM16b, Section 9.3]). Let  $L = \text{div } A\nabla$  be an elliptic operator of the form (1.1), with m = N = 1, acting on functions defined on open sets in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 2$ . Suppose that A has real coefficients and is t-independent in the sense of formula (1.29). Let  $\Omega = \{(x',t) : x' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}, t > \psi(x')\}$  for some Lipschitz function  $\psi$ .

Then there is some  $\kappa > 0$  depending only on the dimension d, the constants  $\lambda$  and  $\Lambda$  in formulas (2.1) and (2.2), and on  $M = \|\nabla \psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d-1})}$ , such that, if

(1.31) 
$$0 < s < 1, \quad 0 < p \le \infty, \quad s - \kappa < \frac{1}{p} < \min\left(s + \kappa, \frac{d - 2 + s + \kappa}{d - 1}\right)$$

then the Dirichlet problem (1.13) (with m = 1) is well posed.

If in addition A is symmetric, then the Dirichlet problem is well posed whenever

$$(1.32) \qquad 0 < s < 1, \quad 0 < p \le \infty, \quad \frac{s-\kappa}{2} < \frac{1}{p} < \begin{cases} \frac{1+s+\kappa}{2}, & 0 < s < 1-\kappa, \\ \frac{d-2+s+\kappa}{d-1}, & 1-\kappa \le s < 1. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, the Neumann problem (1.14) is well posed for the same range of indices.

Finally, for any  $p_0$ ,  $s_0$  and  $p_1$ ,  $s_1$  satisfying the given conditions, these problems are compatibly well posed in the sense of Lemma 1.22.

The acceptable values of s and 1/p are shown in Figure 1.1.

Remark 1.33. If d = 2, a straightforward argument (see [Pip97, KR09, Bar13]) shows that the Dirichlet problem (1.13) and the Neumann problem (1.14) with  $\boldsymbol{A}$  replaced by  $(1/\det \boldsymbol{A})\boldsymbol{A}^t$  are equivalent; thus, the Neumann problem is also well posed if d = 2 and p and s satisfy the condition (1.31).



FIGURE 1.1. Theorem 1.30. If  $\boldsymbol{A}$  is real, *t*-independent, and if L is a decoupled system of N independent differential equations, then we have well posedness of the Dirichlet problem for all values of (s, 1/p) shown. We have well posedness for all such  $\boldsymbol{A}$  and all (s, 1/p) in the black region; the size of the grey region depends on  $\Omega$  and  $\boldsymbol{A}$ . The right hand side indicates the region of well posedness if in addition  $\boldsymbol{A}$  is symmetric or nearly symmetric; in this case the Neumann problem is well posed as well.

If in addition A is symmetric, it follows from known results that there is some  $\kappa > 0$  such that the Dirichlet and Neumann problems are well posed whenever

(1.34) 
$$0 < s < 1, \quad 0 < p \le \infty, \quad -\frac{1}{2} - \kappa < \frac{1}{p} - s < \frac{1}{2} + \kappa.$$

See Section 6.2.

We may establish well posedness for more general second order systems using Theorem 1.16.

**Theorem 1.35.** Fix some  $\Lambda > \lambda > 0$  and some M > 0. Let s and p satisfy the conditions (1.32) (if  $d \ge 3$ ) or (1.34) (if d = 2).

Then there is some  $\varepsilon > 0$  depending on  $\Lambda$ ,  $\lambda$ , M, p, s, and the dimension d so that, if  $\Omega$  is as in Theorem 1.30, if L is an elliptic system of the form (1.1) with m = 1 associated to coefficients  $\mathbf{A}$  that satisfy the ellipticity conditions (2.1) and (2.2), and if

$$(1.36) \sup_{\substack{j,\alpha,\beta,x',t}} |\operatorname{Im} A_{\alpha\beta}^{jj}(x',t)| + \sup_{\substack{j,\alpha,\beta,x',t,s}} |A_{\alpha\beta}^{jj}(x',t) - A_{\alpha\beta}^{jj}(x',s)| + \sup_{\substack{j,k,\alpha,\beta,x',t\\j\neq k}} |A_{\alpha\beta}^{jk}(x',t)| < \varepsilon$$

and

(1.37) 
$$\sup_{j,\alpha,\beta,x',t} |A_{\alpha\beta}^{jj}(x',t) - A_{\beta\alpha}^{jj}(x',t)| < \varepsilon$$

then the Dirichlet problem

(1.38) 
$$\begin{cases} L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div} H \ in \ \Omega, \\ \vec{u} = \vec{f} \ on \ \partial\Omega, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{1,av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\vec{f}\|_{\dot{B}^{p,p}_{s}(\partial\Omega)} + C \|\vec{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \end{cases}$$



FIGURE 1.2. Theorem 1.40. If A is near to satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.30, then we have well posedness of the Dirichlet problem for all indicated values of (s, 1/p).

and the Neumann problem

(1.39) 
$$\begin{cases} L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div} \vec{H} \text{ in } \Omega, \\ \nu \cdot \boldsymbol{A} \nabla \vec{u} = \vec{M}_{\boldsymbol{A}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \vec{g} \text{ on } \partial \Omega, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{1,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\vec{g}\|_{\dot{B}^{p,p}_{s-1}(\partial\Omega)} + C \|\vec{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \end{cases}$$

are well posed.

If p and s satisfy the stronger condition (1.31), then then the Dirichlet problem (1.38) is well posed even if the condition (1.37) is not satisfied.

Observe that the size of the acceptable perturbation  $\varepsilon$  depends on p and s. By perturbing at finitely many points and applying Lemmas 1.22 and 1.21, we can construct large regions in the (s, 1/p)-plane such that boundary value problems are well posed in the given regions.

**Theorem 1.40.** Fix some  $\Lambda > \lambda > 0$  and some M > 0. Let  $\kappa$  be as in Theorem 1.30; notice that  $0 < \kappa \leq 1$  and that  $\kappa$  depends only on  $\lambda$ ,  $\Lambda$ , M and the dimension d. Fix some  $\delta$  with  $0 < \delta < \kappa/2$ .

Then there is some  $\varepsilon > 0$  depending on  $\Lambda$ ,  $\lambda$ , M,  $\delta$ , and the dimension d so that, if  $\Omega$  is as in Theorem 1.30, if L is an elliptic system of the form (1.1) with m = 1associated to coefficients  $\mathbf{A}$  that satisfy the ellipticity conditions (2.1) and (2.2), and if  $\mathbf{A}$  satisfies the condition (1.36), then the Dirichlet problem (1.38) is well posed whenever

$$\delta \le s \le 1-\delta$$
,  $\max(0, s-\kappa+\delta) \le \frac{1}{p} \le \min\left(s+\kappa-\delta, \frac{d-2+s+\kappa-\delta}{d-1}\right)$ .

If in addition the condition (1.37) is valid, then the Dirichlet problem (1.38) and the Neumann problem (1.39) are well posed whenever  $d \ge 3$  and

$$\delta \le s \le 1-\delta, \quad \max\left(0, \frac{s}{2}-\kappa+\delta\right) \le \frac{1}{p} \le \min\left(\frac{1+s}{2}+\kappa-\delta, \frac{d-2+s+\kappa-\delta}{d-1}\right)$$

or d = 2 and

$$\delta \leq s \leq 1-\delta, \quad 0$$

The acceptable values of p and s are shown in Figure 1.2.



FIGURE 1.3. Theorem 1.41. The Dirichlet and Neumann problems (1.44) and (1.45) are well posed provided (s, 1/p) lie in the region shown on the left (for  $d \ge 4$ ) or on the right (for d = 2 or d = 3).

1.4.2. Perturbations of the biharmonic operator. In [MM13a], I. Mitrea and M. Mitrea established well posedness of boundary value problems for the biharmonic operator  $\Delta^2$  in bounded Lipschitz domains. Their results may be shown to imply the following. See Section 6.1.

**Theorem 1.41** ([MM13a]). Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Let  $1 > \rho > -1/(d-1)$ . Then there is some  $\kappa > 0$  depending on  $\Omega$  and  $\rho$  such that if  $d \geq 4$  and

(1.42) 
$$0 < s < 1, \quad 1 < p < \infty, \quad \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{d-1} - \kappa < \frac{1}{p} - \frac{s}{d-1} < \frac{1}{2} + \kappa,$$

or if d = 2 or d = 3 and

$$(1.43) 0 < s < 1, 1 < p < \infty, 0 < \frac{1}{p} - \left(\frac{1-\kappa}{2}\right)s < \frac{1+\kappa}{2},$$

then the biharmonic Dirichlet problem

(1.44) 
$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = \operatorname{div}_2 \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \quad in \ \Omega, \\ \dot{\boldsymbol{T}} \mathbf{r}_1^{\Omega} u = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}, \\ \| u \|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{2,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{f}} \|_{\dot{W}A^p_{1,s}(\partial\Omega)} + C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \end{cases}$$

and the biharmonic Neumann problem

(1.45) 
$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = \operatorname{div}_2 \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \quad in \ \Omega, \\ \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}_{\rho}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}} u = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \\ \|u\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{2,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A^p_{1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \end{cases}$$

are both well posed.

The acceptable values of s and 1/p are shown in Figure 1.3. Here  $A_{\rho}$  is the symmetric constant coefficient matrix such that

(1.46) 
$$\langle \nabla^2 \psi(x), \mathbf{A}_{\rho} \nabla^2 \varphi(x) \rangle = \rho \,\overline{\Delta \psi(x)} \,\Delta \varphi(x) + (1-\rho) \sum_{j=1}^d \sum_{k=1}^d \overline{\partial_j \partial_k \psi(x)} \,\partial_j \partial_k \varphi(x).$$

ARIEL BARTON



FIGURE 1.4. Theorem 1.47. If L is close to the biharmonic operator, then the Dirichlet and Neumann problems (1.44) and (1.45) are well posed provided (s, 1/p) lie in the region shown on the left (for  $d \ge 4$ ) or on the right (for d = 2 or d = 3).

We remark that [MMW11] contained some well posedness results in the case  $p \leq 1$  for the Dirichlet problem if d = 3. In a forthcoming paper, we intend to consider the case  $p \leq 1$  extensively; we will apply comparable results therein.

Using Theorem 1.16, we may derive new well posedness results for operators whose coefficients are close to those of the biharmonic operator.

**Theorem 1.47.** Let  $N \ge 1$  be an integer, and for each  $1 \le j \le N$ , let  $\rho_j \in \mathbb{R}$ ; in the case of the Neumann problem we additionally require  $-1/(d-1) < \rho_j < 1$ . Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded simply connected Lipschitz domain, and let  $\kappa_j$  be as in Theorem 1.41. Let  $\kappa = \min_j \kappa_j$ . Let  $0 < \delta < \kappa$ .

Let L be an operator of the form (1.1), with m = 2, associated to coefficients A. Then there is some  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that, if L is an operator of the form (1.1) with m = 2, and if

$$\sup_{j,\alpha,\beta,x} |A_{\alpha\beta}^{jj}(x) - (A_{\rho_j})_{\alpha\beta}| + \sup_{\substack{j,k,\alpha,\beta,x\\ i \neq k}} |A_{\alpha\beta}^{jk}(x)| < \varepsilon$$

then the Dirichlet problem (1.13) and the Neumann problem (1.14), with m = 2, are well posed whenever  $\delta \leq s \leq 1 - \delta$ ,  $1/(1 - \delta) \leq p \leq 1/\delta$  and

$$\begin{split} d &\geq 4 \quad and \quad \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{d-1} - (\kappa - \delta) \leq \frac{1}{p} - \frac{s}{d-1} \leq \frac{1}{2} + (\kappa - \delta), \\ d &= 2 \ or \ d = 3 \ and \ 0 \leq \frac{1}{p} - \left(\frac{1 - (\kappa - \delta)}{2}\right)s \leq \frac{1 + (\kappa - \delta)}{2}. \end{split}$$

The acceptable values of s and 1/p are shown in Figure 1.4.

1.5. Outline of the paper. The paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we will define our terminology. In Section 3 we will discuss some properties of the function spaces  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  and  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ ; many of these properties were established in [Barb] but some are new to the present paper. In Sections 4 and 5 we will prove Theorems 1.16 and 1.15, respectively. Finally, in Section 6 we will resolve some differences between well posedness results as stated in the literature, and the well posedness results required by Theorem 1.16; the results of Section 6 were used in Section 1.4 above.

Acknowledgements. The author would like to thank Steve Hofmann and Svitlana Mayboroda for many useful discussions concerning the theory of higher-order elliptic equations. The author would also like to thank the American Institute of Mathematics for hosting the SQuaRE workshop on "Singular integral operators and solvability of boundary problems for elliptic equations with rough coefficients," at which many of these discussions occurred and the Mathematical Sciences Research Institute for hosting a Program on Harmonic Analysis, during which substantial parts of this paper were written.

# 2. Definitions

Throughout we work with a divergence-form elliptic system of N partial differential equations of order 2m in dimension d. The notation of multiindices, function spaces, and Lipschitz domains used in this paper will be that of [Barb, Section 2].

If  $U \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a measurable set, we let  $\mathbf{1}_U$  be the characteristic function of U. If F is a function defined on U, we let  $\mathcal{E}_U^0 F$  be the extension of F to  $\mathbb{R}^d$  by zero, that is,

$$\mathcal{E}_{U}^{0}F(x) = \begin{cases} F(x), & x \in U, \\ 0, & x \notin U. \end{cases}$$

If F is defined on some  $V \supseteq U$ , we let  $F|_U$  be the restriction of F to U. We now introduce some notation and standard bounds for elliptic operators. Let  $\mathbf{A} = (A_{\alpha\beta}^{jk})$  be measurable coefficients defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , indexed by integers  $1 \leq j \leq N, 1 \leq k \leq N$  and by multiindices  $\alpha, \beta$  with  $|\alpha| = |\beta| = m$ . If  $\dot{H}$  is an array, then  $A\dot{H}$  is the array given by

$$(\boldsymbol{A}\boldsymbol{\dot{H}})_{j,\alpha} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{|\beta|=m} A_{\alpha\beta}^{jk} H_{k,\beta}.$$

Throughout we consider coefficients that satisfy the bound

$$(2.1) \|\boldsymbol{A}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)} \leq \Lambda$$

and the Gårding inequality

for some  $\Lambda > \lambda > 0$ . When studying the Neumann problem in a domain  $\Omega$ , we will often require that A satisfy the local Gårding inequality

(2.3) Re 
$$\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{\varphi} \rangle_{\Omega} \ge \lambda \| \nabla^m \vec{\varphi} \|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2$$
 for all  $\vec{\varphi} \in \dot{W}_m^2(\Omega)$ .

Here the inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is given by

$$\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{F}}, \dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \rangle = \sum_{|\gamma|=m} \overline{F_{\gamma}} G_{\gamma}, \quad \langle \dot{\boldsymbol{F}}, \dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \rangle_{\Omega} = \sum_{|\gamma|=m} \int_{\Omega} \overline{F_{\gamma}} G_{\gamma},$$
$$\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{F}}, \dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \rangle_{\partial\Omega} = \sum_{|\gamma|=m} \int_{\partial\Omega} \overline{F_{\gamma}} G_{\gamma} \, d\sigma$$

where  $\sigma$  denotes surface measure. (In this paper we will consider only domains with rectifiable boundary.) The norm  $|\mathbf{A}|$  of  $\mathbf{A}$  in formula (2.1) is the operator norm, that is,  $|\mathbf{A}| = \sup_{\dot{\mathbf{H}}\neq 0} |\mathbf{A}\dot{\mathbf{H}}| / |\dot{\mathbf{H}}|$ , where  $|\dot{\mathbf{H}}|^2 = \langle \dot{\mathbf{H}}, \dot{\mathbf{H}} \rangle$ .

We let L be the operator of the form (1.1) associated with the coefficients A.

#### ARIEL BARTON

Throughout the paper we will let C denote a constant whose value may change from line to line, but which depends only on the dimension d, the ellipticity constants  $\lambda$  and  $\Lambda$  in the bounds (2.1), (2.2) and (2.3), and the Lipschitz character  $(M, n, c_0)$  of any relevant domains. Any other dependencies will be indicated explicitly. We say that  $A \approx B$  if, for some such constant  $C, A \leq CB$  and  $B \leq CA$ .

# 3. PROPERTIES OF FUNCTION SPACES

In order to investigate boundary value problems with solutions in the spaces  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ , we will need a number of properties of the spaces  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  and  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ .

Let  $\Omega$  be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , and let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a grid of Whitney cubes; then  $\Omega = \bigcup_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} Q$ , the cubes in  $\mathcal{G}$  have pairwise-disjoint interiors, and if  $Q \in \mathcal{G}$  then the sidelength  $\ell(Q)$  of Q satisfies  $\ell(Q) \approx \operatorname{dist}(Q, \partial \Omega)$ . If  $0 and <math>\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , then

(3.1) 
$$\|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \approx \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \left(\int_{Q} |\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^2\right)^{p/2} \ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps}\right)^{1/p}$$

where the comparability constants depend on p, s, and the comparability constants for Whitney cubes in the relation  $\ell(Q) \approx \operatorname{dist}(Q, \partial\Omega)$ . (This equivalence is still valid in the case  $p = \infty$  if we replace the sum over cubes by an appropriate supremum.) This implies that we may replace the balls  $B(x, \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial\Omega)/2)$  in the definition (1.12) of  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  by balls  $B(x, a \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial\Omega))$  for any 0 < a < 1, and produce an equivalent norm.

We have two important consequences. First,

(3.2) 
$$L^{2,1/2}_{av}(\Omega) = L^2(\Omega)$$
 and so  $\dot{W}^{2,1/2}_{m,av}(\Omega) = \dot{W}^2_m(\Omega)$ .

Second, if  $1 \leq p < \infty$ , then we have the duality relation

(3.3) 
$$(L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega))^* = L^{p',1-s}_{av}(\Omega)$$

where 1/p + 1/p' = 1. (As usual  $L_{av}^{1,1-s}(\Omega)$  is not the dual space to  $L_{av}^{\infty,s}(\Omega)$ .)

We have the following result showing that  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ -functions are locally integrable up to the boundary.

**Lemma 3.4** ([Barb, Lemma 3.7]). Suppose that  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a Lipschitz domain, and that s > 0 and  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) . If <math>\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , if  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$ , and if R > 0, then

(3.5) 
$$\|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{1}(B(x_{0},R)\cap\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} R^{d-1+s-(d-1)/p}$$

Conversely, bounded compactly supported functions are contained in  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ .

**Lemma 3.6.** Suppose that  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a Lipschitz domain, and that s < 1 and  $0 . If <math>\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , if  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$ , and if R > 0, then  $\mathbf{1}_{B(x_0,R)}\dot{\mathbf{H}}$  is in  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , with

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{B(x_0,R)}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} R^{1-s+(d-1)/p}.$$

*Proof.* By the definition (1.12) of  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ ,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{B(x_{0},R)}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \leq \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \left(\int_{\Omega \cap B(x_{0},(3/2)R)} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx\right)^{1/p}.$$

If  $\Omega$  is a Lipschitz domain, then the integral clearly converges, and so the proof is complete.



FIGURE 3.1. For a given value of  $(\sigma, 1/q)$ , the acceptable values of  $(1/\omega, 1/r)$  for Lemma 3.7. The black line has slope 1/(d-1).

3.1. Embedding results, compatibility and uniqueness. In this section we will show that  $L_{av}^{r,\omega}(\Omega) \subset L_{av}^{q,\sigma}(\Omega)$  for appropriate values of  $q, r, \sigma, \omega$  and  $\Omega$ . Furthermore, we will state some useful consequences of this embedding result.

- **Lemma 3.7.** Let  $\Omega$  be an open set with  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ . Let  $\sigma < \omega$  and let  $0 < q \leq \infty$ . Suppose that r is such that one of the following conditions is true.

  - $\frac{d-1}{q} \sigma = \frac{d-1}{r} \omega.$   $\Omega$  is bounded, and  $0 \le \frac{d-1}{r} \le \frac{d-1}{q} + \omega \sigma.$

Then  $L^{r,\omega}_{av}(\Omega) \subsetneq L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\Omega)$ , and if  $\dot{\Psi} \in L^{r,\omega}_{av}(\Omega)$  then

$$\|\dot{\Psi}\|_{L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\Omega)} \leq C(r,q,\omega,\sigma) \operatorname{diam} \Omega^{(d-1)/q-(d-1)/r+\omega-\sigma} \|\dot{\Psi}\|_{L^{r,\omega}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

If  $\Omega$  is unbounded, then the indeterminate form diam  $\Omega^{(d-1)/q-(d-1)/r+\omega-\sigma}$  $\infty^0$  in the above expression is taken to be 1.

Proof of Lemma 3.7. Begin with the case where 0 < q < r. In this case (d-1)/r < r $(d-1)/q < (d-1)/q + \omega - \sigma$  and so  $\Omega$  must be bounded. Recall that

$$\|\dot{\Psi}\|^{q}_{L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\Omega)} = \int_{\Omega} (\dot{\Psi})_{W}(x)^{q} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{q-1-q\sigma} dx$$

where  $(\dot{\Psi})_W(x) = \left( \int_{B(x,\operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)/2)} |\dot{\Psi}|^2 \right)^{1/2}$ . By Hölder's inequality, if  $\dot{\Psi} \in L^{r,\omega}_{av}(\Omega)$ then

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{\Psi}\|_{L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\Omega)}^{q} &\leq \left(\int_{\Omega} \dot{\Psi}_{W}(x)^{r} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{r-1-r\omega} dx\right)^{q/r} \\ &\times \left(\int_{\Omega} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{-1+(\omega-\sigma)qr/(r-q)} dx\right)^{1-q/r} \end{aligned}$$

Because  $\omega > \sigma$  and r > q > 0, the second integral converges and we may derive the desired inequality.

We now consider the case  $r \leq q$ . Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be as in formula (3.1). Then

$$\|\dot{\Psi}\|_{L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\Omega)} \approx \left(\sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \left(\oint_{Q} |\dot{\Psi}|^2\right)^{q/2} \ell(Q)^{d-1+q-q\sigma}\right)^{1/q}.$$

Because  $\omega - \sigma + (d-1)/q - (d-1)/r \ge 0$ , we have that if diam  $\Omega < \infty$  then

$$\|\dot{\Psi}\|_{L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\Omega)}^q \lesssim \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \left( \oint_Q |\dot{\Psi}|^2 \right)^{q/2} \ell(Q)^{(d-1)(q/r)+q-q\omega} \operatorname{diam} \Omega^{(d-1)(1-q/r)+q\omega-q\sigma}$$

If diam  $\Omega = \infty$ , then we consider only the case  $(d-1)(1-q/r) + q\omega - q\sigma = 0$ , and so the above formula is valid if we take diam  $\Omega^{(d-1)(1-q/r)+q\omega-q\sigma} = 1$ .

Rewriting, we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\dot{\Psi}\|_{L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\Omega)} \\ \lesssim \left(\sum_{Q\in\mathcal{G}} \left( \left( \oint_{Q} |\dot{\Psi}|^2 \right)^{1/2} \ell(Q)^{(d-1)/r+1-\omega} \right)^q \right)^{1/q} \operatorname{diam} \Omega^{(d-1)(1/q-1/r)+\omega-\sigma} \end{aligned}$$

If  $r \leq q$ , then we may bound the norm in the sequence space  $\ell^q$  by the norm in  $\ell^r$ . This completes the proof.  $\square$ 

This embedding result has two useful corollaries. The first allows us to extrapolate uniqueness of solutions; the second is a compatibility condition of the type required by Lemma 1.22.

**Corollary 3.8.** Let L be an elliptic operator of order 2m. Let  $\Omega$ , q,  $\sigma$ , r and  $\omega$ satisfy the conditions of Lemma 3.7.

Suppose that the only solution to the problem

(3.9) 
$$L\vec{v} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v} = 0, \quad \vec{v} \in W_{m,av}^{q,\sigma}(\Omega)$$

is  $\vec{v} = 0$  (as an element of  $\dot{W}^{q,\sigma}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ ; that is,  $\vec{v}$  is the equivalence class of functions  $\{\vec{V}: \nabla^m \vec{V} = 0 \ in \ \Omega\}.)$ 

Then for any  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{r,\omega}_{av}(\Omega)$  and any  $\dot{\mathbf{f}} \in \dot{W}A^r_{m-1,\omega}(\partial\Omega)$ , there is at most one  $\vec{u} \in \dot{W}^{r,\omega}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  that satisfies

$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{f}, \quad \vec{u} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{r,\omega}(\Omega).$$

A similar statement is valid for the Neumann problem.

**Corollary 3.10.** Let L be an elliptic operator of order 2m. Let  $\Omega$ , q,  $\sigma$ , r and  $\omega$ satisfy the conditions of Lemma 3.7.

Suppose that the problem (3.9) has only the trivial solution.

Suppose that  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{r,\omega}_{av}(\Omega) \cap L^{q,\sigma}_{av}(\partial\Omega)$  and  $\dot{\boldsymbol{f}} \in \dot{W}A^r_{m-1,\omega}(\partial\Omega) \cap \dot{W}A^q_{m-1,\sigma}(\partial\Omega)$ . Let  $\vec{u} \in \dot{W}^{q,\sigma}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  and  $\vec{w} \in \dot{W}^{r,\omega}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  satisfy  $L\vec{u} = L\vec{w} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H}$  in  $\Omega$  and  $\dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{w} = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}.$   $Then \ \nabla^m \vec{u} = \nabla^m \vec{w} \ in \ \Omega.$ 

A similar result is valid for the Neumann problem.

# 4. $L^{\infty}$ perturbation and well posedness

In this section we will prove Theorem 1.16. We will also prove Lemma 1.21.

We will begin (Lemma 4.1) by reducing to the case of homogeneous boundary values. Theorem 4.6 will establish that if solutions to  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi}$  exist, then so must solutions to  $M\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \vec{H}$ . In Section 4.3 we will prove a generalization of Lemma 1.21; specifically, we will show that uniqueness of solutions to the Dirichlet or Neumann problem  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H}$ , for data  $\dot{H} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , is equivalent to existence of solutions to  $L^*\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi}$ , for data  $\dot{\Phi} \in L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$ . In Section 4.4 we

will combine these results to establish that uniqueness of solutions, like existence of solutions, is stable under  $L^{\infty}$  perturbation.

4.1. Reduction to the case of homogeneous boundary values. In this subsection we will prove the following lemma.

**Lemma 4.1.** Let  $\Omega$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Let 0 < s < 1, let  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) , and suppose that for every <math>\dot{\Phi} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists a solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Dirichlet problem with homogeneous boundary data

(4.2) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi} \ in \ \Omega, \quad \operatorname{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$$

or the Neumann problem

(4.3) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi} \ in \ \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}} \ \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

Then for each  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  and for each  $\dot{\boldsymbol{f}} \in \dot{W}A^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)$  or  $\dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \in \dot{N}A^p_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)$ , respectively, there is a solution to the full Dirichlet problem

(4.4) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}},$$
  
 $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^{p}_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)}.$ 

or the full Neumann problem

(4.5) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \ in \ \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \ \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}},$$
  
 $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A^{p}_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)}.$ 

If solutions to the problems (4.2) or (4.3) are unique, then so are solutions to the problems (4.4) or (4.5), respectively.

*Proof.* The uniqueness follows by linearity; we need only establish existence.

Begin with the Dirichlet case. Let  $\vec{F}$  satisfy  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{F} = \mathbf{j}$ ; by [Barb, Theorem 4.1], there exists some such  $\vec{F}$  that in addition satisfies  $\|\vec{F}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\mathbf{j}\|_{\dot{W}A_{m-1,s}^{p}(\partial\Omega)}$ . Let  $\mathbf{\dot{\Phi}} = \mathbf{\dot{H}} - \mathbf{A}\nabla^{m}\vec{F}$ , and let  $\vec{v}$  be the solution to the Dirichlet problem (4.2) with data  $\mathbf{\dot{\Phi}}$ . Let  $\vec{u} = \vec{v} + \vec{F}$ . Then

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} &= \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v} + \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{F} = 0 + \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}, \\ L \vec{u} &= L \vec{v} + L \vec{F} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} + \operatorname{div}_m \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{F} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega \\ \| \vec{u} \|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} &\leq c_p \| \vec{v} \|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} + c_p \| \vec{F} \|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{f}} \|_{\dot{W}A^{p}_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)} \end{aligned}$$

as desired. (If  $p \ge 1$  then  $c_p = 1$ .)

The Neumann case is similar. Let  $\dot{\mathbf{G}}$  be the extension of  $\dot{\mathbf{g}}$  given by [Barb, Theorem 6.1]. Let  $\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}} = \dot{\mathbf{H}} + \dot{\mathbf{G}}$  and let  $\vec{u}$  be the solution to the Neumann problem (4.3) with data  $\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}}$ .

Then  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A},\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}} \vec{u} = 0$ . If  $\vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is a smooth testing function, then by the definition (1.4) of Neumann boundary values,

$$\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{u} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \rangle_{\Omega}$$

and by [Barb, Theorem 6.1],  $\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \rangle_{\partial \Omega}$ . In particular,  $L \vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  in  $\Omega$ , and

$$\langle \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} \rangle_{\partial\Omega} = \langle \nabla^{m} \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^{m} \vec{u} \rangle_{\Omega} - \langle \nabla^{m} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \rangle_{\partial\Omega}$$

and so  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A},\boldsymbol{\dot{H}}} \vec{u} = \boldsymbol{\dot{g}}$ . Furthermore,

$$\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C_1 \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \le C_2 \|\dot{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C_2 \|\dot{g}\|_{\dot{N}A^p_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)}$$

as desired.

4.2. **Perturbation of existence.** In this section we will prove the following theorem. This theorem provides the existence component of Theorem 1.16.

**Theorem 4.6.** Suppose that L is a differential operator of the form (1.1), of order 2m and acting on  $\mathbb{C}^N$ -valued functions, associated to bounded coefficients  $\mathbf{A}$ . Let M be another operator of order 2m, also acting on  $\mathbb{C}^N$ -valued functions, and associated to the coefficients  $\mathbf{B}$ . Let  $\|\mathbf{A} - \mathbf{B}\|_{L^{\infty}} = \varepsilon$ .

Let 0 < s < 1 and let  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) . Let <math>\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a Lipschitz domain. Suppose that for every  $\dot{\Phi} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists a solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Dirichlet problem (1.17). If  $\varepsilon < 1/C_0$ , where  $C_0$  is as in the problem (1.17), then for each  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists a solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Dirichlet problem (1.18) with  $\dot{\mathbf{f}} = 0$ .

Similarly, if for every  $\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists a solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Neumann problem (1.19), then whenever  $\varepsilon < 1/C_0$ , we have that for each  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists a solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Neumann problem (1.20) with  $\dot{\mathbf{g}} = 0$ .

Finally, let  $0 < s_j < 1$  and  $(d-1)/(d-1+s_j) < p_j \le \infty$  for j = 0, 1. Suppose that  $\mathbf{A}$  satisfies the condition (2.2) or (2.3), and that the Dirichlet problems (1.23– 1.24) or Neumann problems (1.26–1.27), respectively, are compatibly well posed in the sense of Lemma 1.22. If  $\varepsilon < \min(1/C_0, 1/C_1)$ , then the perturbed solutions are compatible; that is, for each  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p_0,s_0}_{av}(\Omega) \cap L^{p_1,s_1}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists a function  $\vec{u}$ with

$$\begin{cases} M\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{H} \ in \ \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0 \ or \ \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{B, \dot{H}} \ \vec{u} = 0, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p_{0}, s_{0}}(\Omega)} \leq C(C_{0}, p, \varepsilon) \|\dot{H}\|_{L_{av}^{p_{0}, s_{0}}(\Omega)}, \\ \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m, av}^{p_{1}, s_{1}}(\Omega)} \leq C(C_{1}, p, \varepsilon) \|\dot{H}\|_{L_{av}^{p_{1}, s_{1}}(\Omega)}. \end{cases}$$

Here

$$C(c, p, \varepsilon) = \frac{c}{1 - c\varepsilon} \text{ if } p \ge 1, \qquad C(c, p, \varepsilon) = \left(\frac{c^p}{1 - c^p \varepsilon^p}\right)^{1/p} \text{ if } p \le 1.$$

*Proof.* Choose some  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ . Let  $\vec{u}_0$  be a solution to the Dirichlet problem (1.17) or the Neumann problem (1.19) with data  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$ . For each  $j \geq 0$ , let  $\vec{u}_{j+1}$  be a solution to the given problem with data  $(\boldsymbol{A} - \boldsymbol{B})\nabla^m \vec{u}_j$ .

We then have that

$$\|\nabla^{m} \vec{u}_{0}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \le C_{0} \|\dot{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}, \qquad \|\nabla^{m} \vec{u}_{j+1}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \le C_{0} \varepsilon \|\nabla^{m} \vec{u}_{j}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

We have that  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  is a quasi-Banach space and thus is complete. Let  $\vec{u} = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \vec{u}_i$ . If  $p \ge 1$ , then we have that

$$\begin{split} \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|\vec{u}_{j}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} C_{0}(C_{0}\varepsilon)^{j} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \frac{C_{0}}{1-C_{0}\varepsilon} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}. \end{split}$$

If  $p \leq 1$ , then  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  is a quasi-Banach space and satisfies the *p*-norm inequality

$$\|\vec{u} + \vec{v}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)}^{p} \le \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)}^{p} + \|\vec{v}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)}^{p}$$

and so we have that

$$\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)}^{p} \leq \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \|\vec{u}_{j}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)}^{p} \leq \frac{C_{0}^{p}}{1 - C_{0}^{p}\varepsilon^{p}} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}^{p}.$$

Let  $\vec{\varphi}$  be smooth and compactly supported in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ; if we seek to establish well posedness of the Dirichlet problem (1.18), we further require that  $\vec{\varphi}$  be supported in  $\Omega$ .

By Lemma 3.4, we have that  $\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\Psi} \rangle_{\Omega}$  represents an absolutely convergent integral whenever  $\dot{\Psi} \in L^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ , and so the following computations are valid.

By bilinearity of the inner product,

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{B} \nabla^m \vec{u} \rangle_{\Omega} &= \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{u}_0 \rangle_{\Omega} \\ &+ \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, (\boldsymbol{B} - \boldsymbol{A}) \nabla^m \vec{u}_j \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{u}_{j+1} \rangle_{\Omega}. \end{split}$$

By definition of  $\vec{u}_j$ , we have that

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{B} \nabla^m \vec{u} \rangle_{\Omega} &= \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} \\ &+ \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, (\boldsymbol{B} - \boldsymbol{A}) \nabla^m \vec{u}_j \rangle_{\Omega} + \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, (\boldsymbol{A} - \boldsymbol{B}) \nabla^m \vec{u}_j \rangle_{\Omega} \\ &= \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega}. \end{split}$$

Recall from the definition (1.4) of  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}} \vec{u}$  that  $\vec{u}$  is a solution to the Neumann problem (1.20) if and only if  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C(C_0, p, \varepsilon) \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$  and

$$\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{B} \nabla^m \vec{u} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} \text{ for all } \vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d).$$

Thus, if  $\vec{u}_j$  was a solution to the Neumann problem (1.19) then  $\vec{u}$  is a solution to the Neumann problem (1.20).

If  $\vec{u}_j$  was a solution to the Dirichlet problem (1.17) then  $M\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H}$  in  $\Omega$ . Furthermore,  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u}_j = 0$  for each j and so  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0$  as well; thus,  $\vec{u}$  is a solution to the Dirichlet problem (1.18), as desired.

Finally, if the Dirichlet problems (1.23–1.24) or Neumann problems (1.26–1.27) are compatibly well posed, we may choose  $\vec{u}_j \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_0,s_0}(\Omega) \cap \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega)$  and so  $\vec{u} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_0,s_0}(\Omega) \cap \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega)$ , with the desired bounds.

4.3. **Duality.** We have shown that if a boundary value problem for L is well posed, then solutions to the corresponding problem for M exist. We must now show that if a boundary value problem for L is well posed, then solutions to the corresponding problem for M are unique.

We will do this by using duality results to relate uniqueness of solutions for L to existence of solutions for  $L^*$ ; we may then use Theorem 4.6 to produce perturbative results.

We remark that Theorems 4.7 and 4.12 are a generalization of Lemma 1.21; they include some results for the case p < 1.

**Theorem 4.7.** Suppose that L is a differential operator of the form (1.1), of order 2m and acting on  $\mathbb{C}^N$ -valued functions, associated to bounded coefficients  $\mathbf{A}$ . Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Let  $(A^*)^{jk}_{\alpha\beta} = \overline{A^{kj}_{\beta\alpha}}$ , and let  $L^*$  be the differential operator associated to  $\mathbf{A}^*$ .

Let 0 < s < 1 and  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) . If <math>p < \infty$ , then let s' be the real number and p' be the extended real number that satisfy

$$\frac{1}{p'} = \max\left(0, 1 - \frac{1}{p}\right), \qquad s' = (1 - s) + (d - 1)\max\left(\frac{1}{p} - 1, 0\right).$$

If  $p = \infty$ , let s' be any number with  $1 - s \le s' < 1$  and let p' satisfy

$$1 + \frac{s' - (1 - s)}{(d - 1)} = \frac{1}{p'}.$$

Suppose that for every  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists at least one solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Dirichlet problem

(4.8) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \vec{u} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega).$$

Then for every  $\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}} \in L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$  there is at most one solution to the Dirichlet problem

(4.9) 
$$L^* \vec{v} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi} \ in \ \Omega, \quad \operatorname{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v} = 0, \quad \vec{v} \in W_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$$

Furthermore, if  $p' \geq 1$  and there is a constant  $C_0$  such that there is at least one solution to the Dirichlet problem (4.8) that satisfies  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C_0 \|\dot{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$ , then the solution to the Dirichlet problem (4.9), if it exists, must satisfy

$$\|\vec{v}\|_{\dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C_1 C_0 \|\bar{\Phi}\|_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)}$$

where  $C_1$  is such that

$$|\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{F}}, \dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \rangle_{\Omega}| \leq \sqrt{C_1} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}\|_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{G}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}, \quad \|\dot{\boldsymbol{F}}\|_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)} \leq \sqrt{C_1} \sup_{\dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \neq 0} \frac{|\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{F}}, \dot{\boldsymbol{G}} \rangle_{\Omega}|}{\|\dot{\boldsymbol{G}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}}.$$

In particular, if we use the norm (3.1) in  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , then  $C_1 = 1$ .

Suppose that for every  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists at least one solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Neumann problem

(4.10) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \vec{u} \in W^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$$

Then for every  $\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}} \in L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$  there is at most one solution to the Neumann problem (4.11)  $L^*\vec{v} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\mathbf{\Phi}} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}^*,\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}}} \vec{v} = 0, \quad \vec{v} \in \dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega).$ 

Furthermore, if  $p' \geq 1$  and there is a constant  $C_0 < \infty$  such that there is at least one solution to the Neumann problem (4.10) that satisfies  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{p,s,p}(\Omega)} \leq$ 

 $C_0 \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}, \text{ then every solution to the Neumann problem (4.11), if it exists,} \\ must satisfy \|\vec{v}\|_{\dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C_1 C_0 \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}\|_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)}.$ 

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\vec{v}$  and  $\vec{w}$  are two solutions to the Dirichlet problem (4.9) or Neumann problem (4.11). To show that  $\nabla^m \vec{v} = \nabla^m \vec{w}$  it suffices to show that  $\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{w} \rangle_{\Omega}$  for all  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  bounded and compactly supported in  $\Omega$ .

Choose some such  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$ . Observe that  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ . Let  $\vec{u}$  be a solution to the Dirichlet problem (4.8) or Neumann problem (4.10) with data  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$ ; by assumption, at least one such  $\vec{u}$  exists. If  $C_0 < \infty$ , we require  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C_0 \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$ . Then

$$\langle oldsymbol{A}
abla^mec{u},
abla^mec{arphi}
angle_\Omega=\langle \dot{oldsymbol{H}},
abla^mec{arphi}
angle_\Omega$$

for all  $\vec{\varphi}$  smooth and compactly supported in  $\Omega$  (the Dirichlet problem) or  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (the Neumann problem). By density of smooth functions (see [Barb, Theorem 3.15]), this is true for all  $\vec{\varphi} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$  (with  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega}\vec{\varphi} = 0$  in the case of the Dirichlet problem, without restriction in the case of the Neumann problem). In particular, it is true for  $\vec{\varphi} = \vec{v}$ . Thus,

$$\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{u}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \nabla^m \vec{u}, \boldsymbol{A}^* \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega}$$

But because  $\vec{v}$  is a solution to the problem (4.9), we have that

$$\langle \nabla^m \vec{u}, A^* \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_\Omega = \langle \nabla^m \vec{u}, \dot{\Phi} \rangle_\Omega$$

Similarly

$$\langle \dot{H}, 
abla^m ec{w} 
angle_\Omega = \langle 
abla^m ec{u}, \dot{\Phi} 
angle_\Omega$$

and so we have that

$$\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{w} \rangle_{\Omega}$$

as desired.

Furthermore, if  $C_0 < \infty$  then

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^{m} \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega}| &= |\langle \nabla^{m} \vec{u}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} \rangle_{\Omega}| \leq \sqrt{C_{1}} \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}\|_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)} \\ &\leq \sqrt{C_{1}} C_{0} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}\|_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)}. \end{aligned}$$

If  $p' \ge 1$  then

$$\|\vec{v}\|_{\dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq \sqrt{C_1} \sup_{\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \frac{|\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega}|}{\|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}} \leq C_1 C_0 \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}\|_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)}$$

as desired.

We now prove the converse. We remark that the converse is somewhat more delicate and that more must be assumed.

Specifically, first, existence of solutions for  $p = \infty$  implies uniqueness of solutions for a range of  $p \leq 1$ ; uniqueness of solutions for  $p = \infty$  is not at present known to imply existence results even for p = 1.

Second, if p < 1 then we will need to assume both uniqueness and existence of solutions to the  $L_{av}^{p,s}$ -boundary value problem for L to derive existence of solutions to the  $L_{av}^{p',s'}$ -boundary value problem for  $L^*$ .

Finally, recall that in Theorem 4.7 we were able to derive uniqueness of solutions to the problem (4.9) or (4.11) given only existence of solutions to the boundary value problem (4.8) or (4.10). The stronger condition  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C_0 \|\dot{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$  was

#### ARIEL BARTON

not necessary for mere uniqueness (although in the case  $p' \ge 1$  it did yield a stronger result). In Theorem 4.12, we will need to assume the condition  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C_0 \|\dot{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$  to establish existence of solutions to the problem (4.9) or (4.11); nothing will be proven given only uniqueness of solutions to the boundary value problem (4.8) or (4.10).

**Theorem 4.12.** Let L, A,  $\Omega$  be as in Theorem 4.7. Let 0 < s < 1, (d-1)/(d-1+s) , and let

$$\frac{1}{p'} = \max\left(0, 1 - \frac{1}{p}\right), \qquad s' = (1 - s) + (d - 1)\max\left(\frac{1}{p} - 1, 0\right).$$

Suppose that there is some constant  $C_0 < \infty$  such that, if  $\vec{u}$  is a solution to the Dirichlet problem (4.8) with data  $\dot{\mathbf{H}}$ , then  $\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C_0 \|\dot{\mathbf{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$ . If p < 1, suppose in addition that a (necessarily unique) solution to the Dirichlet problem (4.8) exists for all  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ .

Then for all  $\dot{\Phi} \in L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$  there is at least one solution  $\vec{v}$  to the Dirichlet problem (4.9); furthermore, at least one such solution satisfies  $\|\vec{v}\|_{\dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq$ 

 $C_1C_0 \|\dot{\mathbf{\Phi}}\|_{L^{p',s'}(\Omega)}$ , where  $C_1$  is as in Theorem 4.7.

A similar result is valid for the Neumann problem.

*Proof.* Let E denote the space of all  $\dot{H} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  such that a solution to the problem (4.8) or (4.10) exists. By assumption, if p < 1 then  $E = L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ .

Let  $T: E \mapsto L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  be given by  $T\dot{H} = \nabla^m \vec{u}$ , where  $\vec{u}$  is the solution to the problem (4.8) or (4.10) with data  $\dot{H}$ . If p < 1 then T is defined on  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  by assumption. If  $p \ge 1$ , then by the Hahn-Banach theorem we may extend T to a bounded linear operator on all of  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ .

Observe that there are two subspaces of E for which we may easily evaluate T:

- If  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} = \mathbf{A} \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}$  for some  $\vec{\varphi} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  (with  $\dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi} = 0$  in the case of the Dirichlet problem), then  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in E$  and  $T\dot{\mathbf{H}} = \vec{\varphi}$ .
- If  $\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} = 0$ , for all  $\vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in the case of the Dirichlet problem, or all  $\vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  in the case of the Neumann problem, then  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in E$  and  $T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} = 0$ .

We now bound the adjoint  $T^*$  to T. If  $1 \le p < \infty$ , then by formula (3.3) we have that  $L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$  is the dual space to  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , and so  $T^*$  is a bounded linear operator  $L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega) \mapsto L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$ .

If  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) , let <math>\mathcal{G}$  be a grid of dyadic Whitney cubes, as in the norm (3.1). Let  $\tilde{s} = s - (d-1)(1/p-1)$ . Let  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , so  $T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 3.7,  $T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{1,\tilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)$ . Furthermore,

$$\|T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{1,\widetilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)} \leq \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \|T(\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}})\|_{L^{1,\widetilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

Another application of Lemma 3.7 yields that

$$\|T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{1,\widetilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)} \leq C \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \|T(\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}})\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

By boundedness of T, we have that

$$\|T(\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{H})\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{H}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

Because  $\mathbf{1}_Q \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  is supported in Q,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{oldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}pprox\|\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{oldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{1,\widetilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

Thus

$$\|T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{1,\widetilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)} \leq C \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \|\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{1,\widetilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)} \approx \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{1,\widetilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

Thus, T extends by density to a bounded operator on  $L^{1,\tilde{s}}_{av}(\Omega)$ . Observe that  $1-\tilde{s} = s'$  and so boundedness of  $T^*$  on  $L^{\infty,s'}_{av}(\Omega)$  follows from the results for p = 1.

Thus, if  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) then <math>T^*$  is a bounded operator on  $L_{av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$ . It is elementary to show that  $||T^*|| \leq C_1 C_0$ . It suffices to show that if  $\dot{\Phi} \in L_{av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$  then  $T^*\dot{\Phi} = \nabla^m \vec{v}$  for some  $\vec{v} \in L_{av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$ , and that  $\vec{v}$  is a solution to problem (4.9) or (4.11).

Suppose first that p > 1. Let  $W = \{\nabla^m \vec{v} : \vec{v} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)\}$  if we seek to solve the Neumann problem, or  $W = \{\nabla^m \vec{v} : \vec{v} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega), \mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v} = 0\}$  if we seek to solve the Dirichlet problem. Then W is a closed subspace of  $L_{av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$ .

Suppose that  $T^* \dot{\Phi} \notin W$  for some  $\dot{\Phi} \in L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$ . Because W is closed, there is some  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $||T^* \dot{\Phi} - \nabla^m \vec{v}||_{L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)} \ge \varepsilon$  for every  $\nabla^m \vec{v} \in W$ . If p > 1, then  $p' < \infty$  and so the dual space of  $L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$  is  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ . It is a

If p > 1, then  $p' < \infty$  and so the dual space of  $L_{av}^{p,s'}(\Omega)$  is  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ . It is a standard result in functional analysis (see, for example, [Fri82, Theorem 4.8.3]) that there is some  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  such that  $\langle \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}, T^* \boldsymbol{\dot{\Phi}} \rangle_{\Omega} = 1$  and  $\langle \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}, \boldsymbol{\dot{w}} \rangle_{\Omega} = 0$  for every  $\boldsymbol{\dot{w}} \in W$ . Recalling the definition of W, we have that  $\langle \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = 0$  for all  $\vec{v} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$  (possibly with the additional assumption  $\dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v} = 0$ ).

But if  $\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = 0$  for every such  $\vec{v}$ , then in particular  $\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{\varphi} \rangle_{\Omega} = 0$  for any  $\varphi$  smooth and compactly supported (in  $\Omega$  or  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ); thus  $T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} = 0$ . But then  $\langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, T^* \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} \rangle_{\Omega} = 0$ , contradicting our assumption; thus,  $T^* \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} \in W$ .

If  $p \leq 1$  and so  $p' = \infty$ , then  $T^* \dot{\Phi} \in L^{\infty,s'}_{av}(\Omega)$ . By Lemma 3.4, if  $\dot{F} \in L^{\infty,s'}_{av}(\Omega)$  then

$$\|\dot{F}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega;\,dx/(1+|x|^{d}))} = \int_{\Omega} |\dot{F}(x)| \frac{1}{1+|x|^{d}} \, dx \le C \|\dot{F}\|_{L^{\infty,s'}(\Omega)}$$

whenever s' < 1.

Let  $W = \{\nabla^m \vec{v} : \nabla^m \vec{v} \in L^1(\Omega; dx/(1+|x|^d))\}$  or  $W = \{\nabla^m \vec{v} : \nabla^m \vec{v} \in L^1(\Omega; dx/(1+|x|^d)), \mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v} = 0\}$ . Because  $L^1(\Omega; dx/(1+|x|^d)) \subset L^1_{loc}(\overline{\Omega})$ , we have that  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v}$  is meaningful.

As before, if  $T^* \dot{\Phi} \notin W$  then there is some  $\dot{H}$  with  $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} |\dot{H}(x)|(1+|x|^d) < \infty$ such that  $\langle \dot{H}, T^* \dot{\Phi} \rangle_{\Omega} = 1$  and  $\langle \dot{H}, \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = 0$  for all  $\vec{v}$  smooth and compactly supported. By Lemma 3.6, if p > (d-1)/(d-1+s) then  $\dot{H} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , and so  $\langle \dot{H}, T^* \dot{\Phi} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle T \dot{H}, \dot{\Phi} \rangle_{\Omega}$ . We may derive a contradiction as before.

Thus, in either case,  $T^*\dot{\Phi} = \nabla^m \vec{v}$  for some  $\vec{v} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)$ , as desired. Notice that in the case of the Dirichlet problem we also have that  $\dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{v} = 0$ .

Finally, suppose that  $\vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  (the Dirichlet problem) or  $\vec{\varphi} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  (the Neumann problem). Then

$$\langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A}^* \nabla^m \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, T^* \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle T(\boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}), \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \nabla^m \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} \rangle_{\Omega}$$

and so  $\vec{v}$  is a solution to the Dirichlet problem (4.9) or the Neumann problem problem (4.11), as desired.

4.4. Perturbation of full well posedness. We now prove Theorem 1.16.

By Theorem 4.6, there is at least one solution to the problem (1.18) or (1.20). Furthermore, by Theorems 4.7 and 4.12, if  $p < \infty$ , if p' and s' are as in Theorem 4.12, if and  $\dot{\Phi} \in L^{p',s'}_{av}(\Omega)$ , then there is a unique solution to the Dirichlet problem

$$L^* \vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)} \le C_1 C_0 \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L_{av}^{p',s'}(\Omega)}$$

or the Neumann problem

$$L^*\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\Phi} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}^*, \dot{\Phi}} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C_1 C_0 \|\dot{\Phi}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}.$$

Again by Theorem 4.6, there must exist solutions to the corresponding problems for the operator  $M^*$ , and so another application of Theorem 4.7 implies that the solutions to the problems (1.18) or (1.20) must be unique, as desired.

5. Energy solutions and well posedness near p = 2, s = 1/2

In this section we will prove Theorem 1.15. Interpolation methods will be essential to our argument; thus, we will also prove Lemma 1.22.

In Section 5.1, we will define the Newton potential and bound it for constant coefficients on our weighted averaged Lebesgue spaces  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ .

We will review interpolation theory and establish interpolation results for  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ and related spaces in Section 5.2; in particular, we will use boundedness of the Newton potential to establish interpolation results for the spaces  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ . (We will also use boundedness of the Newton potential in Section 6.1 to establish well posedness results for biharmonic operators.) We will then use these interpolation results to prove Lemma 1.22.

Finally, we will complete the proof of Theorem 1.15 in Section 5.3.

5.1. Boundedness of the Newton potential for constant coefficients. Suppose that L is an elliptic operator of the form (1.1) associated to some coefficients  $\boldsymbol{A}$  that satisfy the bound (2.1) and the ellipticity condition (2.2). By the Lax-Milgram lemma, if  $\boldsymbol{\dot{H}} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then there is a unique function  $\vec{u} = \vec{\Pi}^L \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}$  in  $\dot{W}_m^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  that satisfies  $L(\vec{\Pi}^L \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}) = \operatorname{div}_m \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}$ , that is, that satisfies

(5.1) 
$$\left\langle \nabla^{m}\vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{A}\nabla^{m}(\vec{\Pi}^{L}\boldsymbol{\dot{H}})\right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} = \left\langle \nabla^{m}\vec{\varphi}, \boldsymbol{\dot{H}}\right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{d}}$$

for all  $\vec{\varphi} \in \dot{W}_m^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Furthermore,  $\vec{\Pi}^L$  is a linear operator and is bounded  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \mapsto \dot{W}_m^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , with operator norm at most  $1/\lambda$ . The kernel of  $\vec{\Pi}^L$  is called the fundamental solution and was constructed for general higher order operators in [Bar16]; we refer the interested reader to [Bar16] for a more detailed discussion of the Newton potential  $\vec{\Pi}^L$ .

By formula (3.2),  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \mapsto \vec{\Pi}^{L}(\mathcal{E}_{\Omega}^{0} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}})|_{\Omega}$  is bounded  $L^{2,1/2}_{av}(\Omega) \mapsto \dot{W}^{2,1/2}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ , where  $\mathcal{E}_{\Omega}^{0}$  denotes extension by zero. Under some circumstances we can bound this operator on  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  for more general p and s. Observe the presence of the extension operator  $\mathcal{E}_{\Omega}^{0}$  and the restriction operator  $|_{\Omega}$  in the above expression. It will be more convenient to consider  $\vec{\Pi}^{L}$  without extension and restriction operators. To this end, we will work with with global analogues of  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  and  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ .

Observe that if  $\Omega$  is an open set and  $\partial\Omega$  has measure zero, then the norm in the space  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)$  satisfies

$$\left\|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\right\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus\partial\Omega\right)}^{p}=\left\|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\right|_{\Omega}\left\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}\left(\Omega\right)}^{p}+\left\|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\right|_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus\overline{\Omega}}\right\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}\left(\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus\overline{\Omega}\right)}^{p}.$$

We define the global analogue of  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m.av}(\Omega)$  as follows.

(5.2) 
$$\widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega) = \{ \vec{F} \in W^1_{m,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d) : \nabla^m \vec{F} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega) \}.$$

Notice that  $\vec{F} \in \widetilde{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\partial\Omega)$  is a stronger condition than  $\nabla^m \vec{F}|_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)$ ; specifically, we require some compatibility of  $\vec{F}$  across the boundary.

We may now state a boundedness result for the Newton potential.

**Lemma 5.3.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a Lipschitz domain. Let  $L_0$  be an operator of the form (1.1) that satisfies the ellipticity condition (2.2) and has constant coefficients.

Then the operator  $\vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  defined by formula (5.1) extends to an operator that is bounded  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega) \mapsto \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\partial \Omega)$  for any 0 < s < 1 and any (d-1)/(d-1+s) .

The remainder of this subsection will be devoted to a proof of Lemma 5.3. We begin with the following bound (in unaveraged spaces) in the case 1 .

**Lemma 5.4.** Let  $L_0$  and  $\Omega$  be as in Lemma 5.3. Let 0 < s < 1 and 1 , $and let <math>\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega)$ . Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx.$$

*Proof.* We claim that  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  is a Calderón-Zygmund operator. By construction,  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  is bounded on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , and so we need only study its kernel.

For constant coefficients, an elementary argument involving Plancherel's theorem yields that the ellipticity condition (2.2) is equivalent to the ellipticity condition (4.15) of [MM13b]. By results of [Sha45, Mor54, Joh55, Hör03], assembled as [MM13b, Theorem 4.2], we have that L has a fundamental solution  $\boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}$  that satisfies the conditions

$$\partial^{\alpha} \vec{\Pi}_{j}^{L_{0}} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}(x) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{|\beta|=m} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \partial_{x}^{\alpha} \partial_{y}^{\beta} E_{j,k}^{L_{0}}(x-y) H_{k,\beta}(y) \, dy \quad \text{for a.e. } x \notin \text{supp } \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$$

for  $|\alpha| = m, 1 \leq j \leq N$ , and

(5.5) 
$$|\nabla^{2m} \boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}(x)| \le \frac{C}{|x|^d}, \quad |\nabla^{2m+1} \boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}(x)| \le \frac{C}{|x|^{d+1}}.$$

This may also be verified by considering the fundamental solution  $\boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}(x,y)$  of [Bar16] (constructed for general variable coefficients); by translational symmetry of  $L_0$ , we have that  $\partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_y^{\beta} \boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}(x,y) = \partial_x^{\alpha} \partial_y^{\beta} \boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}(x-y,0)$ . The bound [Bar16, formula (63)] yields an  $L^2$  estimate on  $\nabla^{2m} \boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}$ , and the Caccioppoli inequality [Bar16, Corollary 22], Morrey's inequality, and the fact that any derivative of a solution  $\vec{u}$  to  $L_0\vec{u} = 0$  is itself a solution, allows us to pass to pointwise bounds on  $\nabla^{2m} \boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}$  and  $\nabla^{2m+1} \boldsymbol{E}^{L_0}$ .

Thus,  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  is a Calderón-Zygmund operator. Recall (see, for example, [Ste93, Chapter V]) that a function  $\omega$  defined on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is a Muckenhoupt  $A_p$  weight if, for every ball  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , we have that

$$\int_{B} \omega(x) \, dx \left( \int_{B} \omega(x)^{-p'/p} \, dx \right)^{p/p'} \le A$$

### ARIEL BARTON

for some constant  $A = A_p(\omega)$  independent of the choice of ball B, where 1/p+1/p' = 1. By a corollary in [Ste93, Chapter V, Section 4.2], if T is a Calderón-Zygmund operator and  $\omega$  is an  $A_p$  weight for some 1 , then <math>T is bounded from  $L^p(\omega(x) dx)$  to itself.

As noted in [BM13b, formula (2.5)] and the proof of [MT06, Lemma 2.3], if  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  is a Lipschitz domain, then  $\omega(x) = \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps}$  is an  $A_p$  weight for any 1 and any <math>0 < s < 1. Furthermore, observe that the constant  $A = A_p(\omega)$  depends only on the Lipschitz character of  $\Omega$ . Thus,  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  is bounded from  $L^p(\omega(x) dx)$  to itself, as desired.

We now must pass to weighted averaged spaces. The following theorem was established in [Bar16]; it is a straightforward consequence of [Bar16, Lemma 33] and the proof of [Bar16, Theorem 24].

**Theorem 5.6.** Let L be an operator of the form (1.1) of order 2m associated to coefficients A that satisfy the ellipticity conditions (2.1) and (2.2).

Let  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$  and let r > 0. Suppose that  $\vec{u} \in \dot{W}_m^2(B(x_0, 2r))$ ,  $\dot{H} \in L^2(B(x_0, 2r))$ , and that  $L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{H}$  in  $B(x_0, 2r)$ .

If 0 , then

$$\left(f_{B(x,r)}|\nabla^{m}\vec{u}|^{2}\right)^{1/2} \leq C(p)\left(f_{B(x,2r)}|\nabla^{m}\vec{u}|^{p}\right)^{1/p} + C(p)\left(f_{B(x,2r)}|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

for some constant C(p) depending only on p and the standard parameters.

This theorem allows us to bound  $\vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  on  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  for 1 .

**Lemma 5.7.** Let  $L_0$  and  $\Omega$  be as in Lemma 5.3. Let 0 < s < 1 and 1 . $Then <math>\vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  extends to an operator that is bounded  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega) \mapsto \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{av}(\partial \Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d) \cap L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega)$ . Divide  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega$  into a grid  $\mathcal{G}$  of Whitney cubes, as in the norm (3.1). By Theorem 5.6 with  $\vec{u} = \vec{\Pi}^{L_0} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$ , we have that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} & \left( \int_{Q} |\nabla^{m} \vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^{2} \right)^{p/2} \ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps} \\ & \leq C(p,\eta) \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \left( \int_{\eta Q} |\nabla^{m} \vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^{p} \right) \ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps} \\ & + C(p,\eta) \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \left( \int_{\eta Q} |\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^{2} \right)^{p/2} \ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps} \end{split}$$

for any  $\eta > 1$ , where  $\eta Q$  is the cube concentric to Q with side-length  $\eta \ell(Q)$ . If  $\eta - 1$  is small enough, then  $\operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) \approx \ell(Q)$  whenever  $x \in \eta Q$  and  $Q \in \mathcal{G}$ , and

furthermore if  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega$  then  $x \in \eta Q$  for at most C cubes  $Q \in \mathcal{G}$ . Thus,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{Q\in\mathcal{G}} \left( \oint_{Q} |\nabla^{m}\vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^{2} \right)^{p/2} \ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps} \\ &\leq C(p,\eta) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\nabla^{m}\vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}(x)|^{p} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx \\ &+ C(p,\eta) \sum_{Q\in\mathcal{G}} \left( \oint_{\eta Q} |\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^{2} \right)^{p/2} \ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps} \end{split}$$

By Lemma 5.4, the norm (3.1), and Hölder's inequality, we have that

$$\|\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} \le C(p) \| \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$$

for any 0 < s < 1 and 1 .

By density  $\nabla^m \Pi^{L_0}$  extends to an operator bounded from  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)$  to itself. If  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then  $\Pi^{L_0} \in \dot{W}^2_m(\mathbb{R}^d) \subset \dot{W}^1_{m,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ . Furthermore, by Lemma 3.4,  $\nabla^m \Pi^{L_0}$  is bounded from  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)$  to  $L^1(K)$  for any compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , and so by density  $\Pi^{L_0}$  extends to a bounded operator  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega) \mapsto \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega)$ .  $\Box$ 

We now consider the case  $p \leq 1$ .

**Lemma 5.8.** Let  $L_0$  and  $\Omega$  be as in Lemma 5.3. Let 0 < s < 1 and  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) . Then <math>\vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  extends to a bounded operator  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega) \mapsto \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\partial \Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega)$  be compactly supported in  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega$ . Again, let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a grid of dyadic Whitney cubes in  $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega$ . Choose some  $Q \in \mathcal{G}$ . Because  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  is bounded on  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , we have that

$$\sum_{\substack{R \in \mathcal{G} \\ \operatorname{dist}(R,Q)=0}} \left( \oint_{R} |\nabla^{m} \vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}}(\mathbf{1}_{Q} \dot{H})|^{2} \right)^{p/2} \ell(R)^{d-1+p-ps} \\ \leq C\ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps-dp/2} \|\nabla^{m} \vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}}(\mathbf{1}_{Q} \dot{H})\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d})}^{p} \\ \leq C\ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps} \left( \oint_{Q} |\dot{H}|^{2} \right)^{p/2}.$$

We seek to bound  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}(\mathbf{1}_Q \dot{\mathbf{H}})$  far from Q. By the bound (5.5) on the fundamental solution, if  $\operatorname{dist}(x, Q) > 0$  then

$$|\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}(\mathbf{1}_Q \dot{\boldsymbol{H}})(x)| \le \left(\frac{\ell(Q)}{\operatorname{dist}(x,Q)}\right)^d \left(\oint_Q |\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^2\right)^{1/2}.$$

Thus, by Lemma 3.6, and because p > (d-1)/(d-1+s),

$$\|\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}(\mathbf{1}_Q \dot{\boldsymbol{H}})\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega)} \le C\ell(Q)^{(d-1)/p+1-s} \left( \oint_Q |\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}|^2 \right)^{1/2}.$$

Because  $p \leq 1$ , we have that

$$\|\nabla^{m}\vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus\partial\Omega)}^{p} \leq \sum_{Q\in\mathcal{G}}\|\nabla^{m}\vec{\Pi}^{L_{0}}(\mathbf{1}_{Q}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}})\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^{d}\setminus\partial\Omega)}^{p}$$

and so by the norm (3.1) we have the bound

$$\|\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega)} \le C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega)}.$$

Again  $\Pi^{L_0}$  extends by density to a bounded operator  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega) \mapsto \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega)$ , as desired.  $\Box$ 

Finally, we turn to the case  $2 . We seek to use the duality relation (3.3). We need only bound the adjoint to <math>(\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^L)^*$  on  $L^{p',1-s}_{av}(\Omega)$ . We will use the following formula from [Bar16].

**Lemma 5.9** ([Bar16, Lemma 42]). Suppose L is an operator of the form (1.1) associated to coefficients A that satisfy the bounds (2.1) and (2.2).

Let  $(A^*)^{jk}_{\alpha\beta} = \overline{A}^{kj}_{\beta\alpha}$  and let  $L^*$  be the associated elliptic operator. Then the adjoint  $(\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^L)^*$  to the operator  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^L$  is  $\nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L^*}$ .

Thus,  $\dot{\mathbf{T}} = \nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}$  extends to a bounded operator on  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial \Omega)$ . It remains to show that  $\dot{\mathbf{T}}\dot{\mathbf{H}}$  is in fact the gradient of a  $\dot{W}^1_{m,loc}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ -function. If  $p < \infty$ , this is true by density as usual.

If  $p = \infty$ , this is true by weak density. That is, let  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L_{av}^{\infty,s}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)$  and let  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}_n \in L_{av}^{\infty,s}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega) \cap L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$  converge weakly to  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  (in  $L_{av}^{\infty,s}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega) = (L_{av}^{1,1-s}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega))^*$ ). We may require  $\|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}_n\|_{L_{av}^{\infty,s}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)} \leq \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L_{av}^{\infty,s}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)}$ . By [Barb, Lemma 3.7] and the Poincaré inequality, we have that  $\vec{\Pi}^{L_0}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}_n$  is locally in  $\dot{W}_m^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for some p > 1. By the Poincaré inequality,  $\vec{\Pi}^{L_0}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}_n - P_{n,B} \in L^p(B)$  for all balls  $B \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ , where  $P_{n,B}$  is an appropriate polynomial of degree at most m-1. Then  $\vec{\Pi}^{L_0}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}_n - P_{n,B}$  is a bounded sequence in a reflexive Banach space, and so has a weak limit  $\vec{F}$ . It is elementary to show that  $\dot{\boldsymbol{T}}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} = \nabla^m \vec{F}$  (in the sense of weak derivatives); thus, the proof of Lemma 5.3 is complete.

5.2. **Interpolation.** In this subsection we will review interpolation theory and discuss its application to the weighted averaged spaces  $L_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ , weighted averaged Sobolev spaces  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ , and boundary spaces  $\dot{W}A_{m-1,s}^{p}(\partial\Omega)$ .

We will use interpolation theory, and in particular stability of invertibility on interpolation scales, to prove Theorem 1.15. We will also use interpolation to prove Lemma 1.22; recall that we used this lemma in Section 1.4 to establish well posedness results.

We refer the reader to the classic reference [BL76] for an extensive background on interpolation theory; in this section we will provide some definitions and summarize a few results.

Following [BL76], we say that two quasi-normed vector spaces  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$  are *compatible* if there is a Hausdorff topological vector space  $\mathfrak{A}$  such that  $A_0 \subset \mathfrak{A}$ ,  $A_1 \subset \mathfrak{A}$ . Then  $A_0 \cap A_1$  and  $A_0 + A_1$  may be defined in the natural way.

We will use two interpolation functors, the real method of Lions and Peetre, and the complex interpolation method of Lions, Calderón and Krejn. We refer the reader to [BL76] for a precise definition of these interpolation functors. Loosely speaking, if  $A_0$  and  $A_1$  are compatible, these functors produce spaces that in some sense lie between  $A_0$  and  $A_1$ . More precisely, for any number  $\sigma$  with  $0 < \sigma < 1$ , any number r with  $0 < r \le \infty$ , and any compatible quasi-normed spaces  $A_0$  and  $A_1$ , the real interpolation functor produces a space  $(A_0, A_1)_{\sigma,r}$  contained in  $A_0 + A_1$  and containing  $A_0 \cap A_1$ , and if  $A_0$  and  $A_1$  are normed vector spaces then the complex

interpolation functor produces a (possibly different) function space  $[A_0, A_1]_{\sigma}$  also contained in  $A_0 + A_1$  and containing  $A_0 \cap A_1$ .

The following is a fundamental and very useful result of interpolation theory. Let  $A_0$ ,  $A_1$  and  $B_0$ ,  $B_1$  be two compatible pairs. Then by [BL76, Theorems 3.11.2 and 4.1.2], we have that if  $T: A_0 + A_1 \mapsto B_0 + B_1$  is a linear operator such that  $T(A_0) \subseteq B_0$  and  $T(A_1) \subseteq B_1$ , then T is bounded on appropriate interpolation spaces, with

(5.10) 
$$||T||_{(A_0,A_1)_{\sigma,r}\mapsto(B_0,B_1)_{\sigma,r}} \le ||T||_{A_0\mapsto B_0}^{1-\sigma} ||T||_{A_1\mapsto B_1}^{\sigma}$$

(5.11) 
$$||T||_{[A_0,A_1]_{\sigma}\mapsto [B_0,B_1]_{\sigma}} \le ||T||_{A_0\mapsto B_0}^{1-\sigma} ||T||_{A_1\mapsto B_1}^{\sigma}$$

for  $0 < \sigma < 1$  and  $0 < r \le \infty$ .

In order to use this result, we will need to identify the spaces  $[A_0, A_1]_{\sigma}$  for various known spaces  $A_j$ , for instance, in the case where  $A_j = L_{av}^{p_j, s_j}(\Omega)$ . We begin with some known interpolation properties for sequence spaces. Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a grid of Whitney cubes in  $\Omega$  and recall the norm (3.1). Let  $Q_0$  be the unit cube, and define the sequence space  $\ell_{\Omega}^{p,s} = \ell_{\Omega}^{p,s}(L^2(Q_0))$  by

$$\ell_{\Omega}^{p,s}(L^{2}(Q_{0})) = \left\{ \left( \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}_{Q} \right)_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} : \left( \sum_{Q \in \mathcal{G}} \| \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}_{Q} \|_{L^{2}(Q_{0})}^{p} \ell(Q)^{d-1+p-ps} \right)^{1/p} < \infty \right\}$$

with the natural norm.

Let  $0 < p_j < \infty$  and let  $s_j \in \mathbb{R}$ . Let  $0 < \sigma < 1$ , let  $1/p_{\sigma} = (1 - \sigma)/p_0 + \sigma/p_1$ , and let  $s_{\sigma} = (1 - \sigma)s_0 + \sigma s_1$ .

By [BL76, Theorem 5.5.1],

(5.12) 
$$(\ell_{\Omega}^{p_0,s_0},\ell_{\Omega}^{p_1,s_1})_{\sigma,p_{\sigma}} = \ell_{\Omega}^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}$$

with equivalent norms. By [BL76, Theorem 5.5.3], if in addition  $p_j \ge 1$ , then

(5.13) 
$$[\ell_{\Omega}^{p_0,s_0}, \ell_{\Omega}^{p_1,s_1}]_{\sigma} = \ell_{\Omega}^{p_{\sigma},s}$$

with equal norms.

We will use the following lemma to extend these results from  $\ell_{\Omega}^{p,s}$  to  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ . This is essentially [BL76, Theorem 6.4.2] and [Tri78, Theorem 1.2.4]; see also [Pee71, Section 3].

**Lemma 5.14.** Suppose that  $(A_0, A_1)$  and  $(B_0, B_1)$  are two compatible couples, and that there are linear operators  $\mathcal{I} : A_0 + A_1 \mapsto B_0 + B_1$  and  $\mathcal{P} : B_0 + B_1 \mapsto A_0 + A_1$ such that  $\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I}$  is the identity operator on  $A_0 + A_1$ , and such that  $\mathcal{I} : A_0 \mapsto B_0$ ,  $\mathcal{I} : A_1 \mapsto B_1, \mathcal{P} : A_0 \mapsto B_0$ , and  $\mathcal{P} : A_1 \mapsto B_1$  are all bounded operators. If  $0 < \sigma < 1$  and  $0 < r \le \infty$ , then

(5.15) 
$$[A_0, A_1]_{\sigma} = \mathcal{P}([B_0, B_1]_{\sigma}) \quad and \quad (A_0, A_1)_{\sigma, r} = \mathcal{P}((B_0, B_1)_{\sigma, r})$$

with equivalent norms; that is,

$$\frac{1}{\|\mathcal{I}\|_{\sigma}} \|\mathcal{I}a\|_{[B_0,B_1]_{\sigma}} \le \|a\|_{[A_0,A_1]_{\sigma}} \le \left(\|\mathcal{P}\|_{\sigma}\right) \|\mathcal{I}a\|_{[B_0,B_1]_{\sigma}},$$
$$\frac{1}{\|\mathcal{I}\|_{\sigma,r}} \|\mathcal{I}a\|_{(B_0,B_1)_{\sigma,r}} \le \|a\|_{(A_0,A_1)_{\sigma,r}} \le \left(\|\mathcal{P}\|_{\sigma,r}\right) \|\mathcal{I}a\|_{(B_0,B_1)_{\sigma}}.$$

where  $\|\mathcal{I}\|_{\sigma}$  and  $\|\mathcal{P}\|_{\sigma}$  denote operator norms between appropriate interpolation spaces.

Proof. By the bound (5.11),  $\mathcal{P}([B_0, B_1]_{\sigma}) \subseteq [A_0, A_1]_{\sigma}$ . Conversely,  $\mathcal{I}([A_0, A_1]_{\sigma}) \subseteq [B_0, B_1]_{\sigma}$  and  $[A_0, A_1]_{\sigma} = \mathcal{PI}([A_0, A_1]_{\sigma})$ , and so  $[A_0, A_1]_{\sigma} \subseteq \mathcal{P}([B_0, B_1]_{\sigma})$ . An analogous argument involving the bound (5.10) is valid for the real interpolation method. The norm inequalities follow from the relation  $a = \mathcal{PI}a$  and the bound (5.10) or (5.11).

We now consider the spaces  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ . Interpolation results for the spaces  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$  were established in [BM16b, Theorem 4.13]; generalizing to arbitrary Lipschitz domains is straightforward.

**Lemma 5.16.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a Lipschitz domain. Let  $s_j \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $0 < p_j < \infty$  and  $0 < \sigma < 1$ , and let  $1/p_{\sigma} = (1 - \sigma)/p_0 + \sigma/p_1$  and  $s_{\sigma} = (1 - \sigma)s_0 + \sigma s_1$ . Then

(5.17) 
$$(L^{p_0,s_0}_{av}(\Omega), L^{p_1,s_1}_{av}(\Omega))_{\sigma,p_{\sigma}} = L^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}_{av}(\Omega)$$

If in addition  $p_j \geq 1$ , then

(5.18) 
$$[L^{p_0,s_0}_{av}(\Omega), L^{p_1,s_1}_{av}(\Omega)]_{\sigma} = L^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}_{av}(\Omega).$$

If we let the  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  norm be given by formula (3.1) rather than (1.12), then we have equal norms in formula (5.18).

Proof. Let  $\mathcal{I} : L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega) \mapsto \ell^{p,s}_{\Omega}$  be given by  $(\mathcal{I}\dot{H})_Q(x) = \dot{H}(x_Q + \ell(Q)x)$  for some appropriate  $x_Q \in Q$ . Observe that  $\mathcal{I}$  is an isomorphism; let  $\mathcal{P}$  be its inverse. Then the result follows by Lemma 5.14 and formulas (5.12) and (5.13).

We remark that, in the (s, 1/p)-plane, the set of points  $\{(s_{\sigma}, 1/p_{\sigma}) : 0 < \sigma < 1\}$  is the line segment connecting  $(s_0, 1/p_0)$  and  $(s_1, 1/p_1)$ .

We now use Lemmas 5.14 and 5.16 to produce interpolation results for other spaces.

**Lemma 5.19.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Let  $0 < s_j < 1, 0 < p_j < \infty$  and  $0 < \sigma < 1$ , and let  $p_{\sigma}$  and  $s_{\sigma}$  be as in Lemma 5.16. If  $(d-1)/(d-1+s_j) < p_j < \infty$ , then we have the real interpolation formulas

(5.20) 
$$(\dot{W}^{p_0,s_0}_{m,av}(\Omega),\dot{W}^{p_1,s_1}_{m,av}(\Omega))_{\sigma,p_{\sigma}} = \dot{W}^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}_{m,av}(\Omega),$$

(5.21) 
$$(\dot{W}A^{p_0}_{m-1,s_0}(\partial\Omega), \dot{W}A^{p_1}_{m-1,s_1}(\partial\Omega))_{\sigma,p_{\sigma}} = \dot{W}A^{p_{\sigma}}_{m-1,s_{\sigma}}(\partial\Omega).$$

If in addition  $p_j \geq 1$ , then we have the complex interpolation formulas

(5.22) 
$$[\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_0,s_0}(\Omega), \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega)]_{\sigma} = \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_\sigma,s_\sigma}(\Omega),$$

(5.23) 
$$[\dot{W}A^{p_0}_{m-1,s_0}(\partial\Omega), \dot{W}A^{p_1}_{m-1,s_1}(\partial\Omega)]_{\sigma} = \dot{W}A^{p_{\sigma}}_{m-1,s_{\sigma}}(\partial\Omega)$$

If  $0 < s_j < 1$  and  $1 \le p_j < \infty$  for both j = 0 and j = 1, and if  $1 < p_j < \infty$  for at least one of j = 0 and j = 1, then

(5.24) 
$$[(\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_0,s_0}(\Omega))^*,(\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega))^*]_{\sigma} = (\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_\sigma,s_\sigma}(\Omega))^*$$

where  $(\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega))^*$  is the dual space to  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ .

*Proof.* Recall the space  $\widetilde{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\partial\Omega)$  of formula (5.2). We will use  $\widetilde{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\partial\Omega)$  as an intermediate space between  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)$  and  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ .

Let  $\mathcal{I}\vec{F} = \nabla^m \vec{F}$ ; then  $\mathcal{I} : \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av} \mapsto L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega)$  is bounded and one-to-one. Let  $\mathcal{P}\dot{H} = \vec{\Pi}^{L_0}(A\dot{H})$  for some constant coefficients  $L_0$ . By Lemma 5.3,  $\mathcal{P}$  is bounded  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \partial\Omega) \mapsto \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega)$ .

Recall that if  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then  $\vec{\Pi}^L \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  is the *unique* solution to formula (5.1); we then have that

$$\vec{\Pi}^{L}(\boldsymbol{A}\nabla^{m}\vec{F}) = \vec{F} \text{ for all } \vec{F} \in \dot{W}_{m}^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{d}).$$

By density of smooth functions (see [Barb, Theorem 3.15]) this is true for all  $\vec{F} \in \widetilde{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\partial\Omega)$ . Thus  $\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I}$  is the identity, and by Lemma 5.3 and the definition of  $\widetilde{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\partial\Omega)$  we have that  $\mathcal{I}$  and  $\mathcal{P}$  are bounded whenever 0 < s < 1 and  $(d-1)/(d-1+s) . Thus, by Lemma 5.14 and formulas (5.17) and (5.18), with appropriate restrictions on <math>p_j$ ,

$$(\widetilde{W}^{p_0,s_0}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega),\widetilde{W}^{p_1,s_1}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega))_{\sigma,p_{\sigma}} = [\widetilde{W}^{p_0,s_0}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega),\widetilde{W}^{p_1,s_1}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega)]_{\sigma} = \widetilde{W}^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega),$$

where  $p_{\sigma}$  and  $s_{\sigma}$  are as in Lemma 5.16.

We now pass to the familiar weighted spaces  $\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ . Let  $\mathcal{P}: \widetilde{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\partial\Omega) \mapsto \dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$  be simply the restriction map;  $\mathcal{P}$  is clearly bounded. Let

$$\mathcal{I}\vec{F} = \mathcal{E}^0_{\Omega}\vec{F} + \mathcal{E}^0_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \overline{\Omega}} \operatorname{Ext}^{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus \overline{\Omega}} \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}^{\Omega}_{m-1} \vec{F},$$

where Ext is the extension operator of [Barb, Theorem 4.1] and  $\mathcal{E}_{\Omega}^{0}$  denotes extension by zero. An examination of the proof of [Barb, Theorem 4.1] reveals that if  $\Omega$  is a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary then Ext is a bounded linear operator; by [Barb, Theorem 5.1],  $\mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega}$  is also bounded, and so  $\mathcal{I}$  is bounded. Clearly  $\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I}\vec{F} = \vec{F}$ , and so by Lemma 5.14, the interpolation formulas (5.20) and (5.22) are valid.

To establish the interpolation results (5.21) and (5.23) for Whitney spaces, let  $\mathcal{I} = \text{Ext}^{\Omega}$  and  $\mathcal{P} = \mathbf{Tr}_{m-1}^{\Omega}$ . By [Barb, Theorems 4.1 and 5.1], these operators are bounded and  $\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I}$  is the identity, and so Lemma 5.14 yields the desired results.

Finally, by [BL76, Corollary 4.5.2], if  $(A_0, A_1)$  is a compatible couple of Banach spaces, and if at least one of  $A_0$  and  $A_1$  is reflexive, then the dual space  $[A_0, A_1]^*_{\sigma}$ to  $[A_0, A_1]_{\sigma}$  is  $[A_0^*, A_1^*]_{\sigma}$ . We may identify  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  with a closed subspace of  $L_{av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ ; thus, if  $1 then <math>\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$  is reflexive, and so

$$[(\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_0,s_0}(\Omega))^*,(\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega))^*]_{\sigma} = (\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_\sigma,s_\sigma}(\Omega))^*$$

as desired.

We will conclude this subsection by proving Lemma 1.22.

*Proof of Lemma 1.22.* By Lemma 4.1, we may consider only the case of homogeneous boundary data (that is,  $\dot{f} = 0$  and  $\dot{g} = 0$ ).

Define the operator T as follows. If  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p_0,s_0}_{av}(\Omega)$  or  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p_1,s_1}_{av}(\Omega)$ , let  $T\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} = \vec{u}$ , where  $\vec{u}$  is the solution to the Dirichlet problem (1.23) or (1.24) or Neumann problem (1.26) or (1.27) with data  $\dot{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} = \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  or  $\dot{\boldsymbol{\Psi}} = \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$ .

Then T is a bounded linear operator  $L_{av}^{p_j,s_j}(\Omega) \mapsto \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_j,s_j}(\Omega)$  for j = 0 and j = 1. By the compatibility condition, we have that T extends to a well-defined linear operator  $L_{av}^{p_0,s_0}(\Omega) + L_{av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega) \mapsto \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_0,s_0}(\Omega) + \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_1,s_1}(\Omega)$ . Thus, by formulas (5.10), (5.17), and (5.20), T is a bounded linear operator  $L_{av}^{p_\sigma,s_\sigma}(\Omega) \mapsto \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p_\sigma,s_\sigma}(\Omega)$  for any  $0 < \sigma < 1$ .

Thus, for each  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p_{\sigma},s_{\sigma}}_{av}(\Omega)$  there exists a solution to the boundary value problem (1.25) or (1.28).

#### ARIEL BARTON

We must now establish uniqueness. Suppose that  $p_j > 1$ . By Theorems 4.7 and 4.12, we have that the corresponding boundary value problems for  $p'_j$ ,  $s'_j$ , with p', s' as in Theorem 4.12, are well posed. Then  $(p')_{\sigma} = (p_{\sigma})'$  and  $(s')_{\sigma} = (s_{\sigma})'$ , and so by the same interpolation argument, we have that the boundary value problem (1.13) or (1.14), with  $p = p'_{\sigma}$  and  $s = s'_{\sigma}$ , are well posed. Another application of Theorem 4.7 completes the proof.

5.3. **Proof of Theorem 1.15.** It is a well known consequence of the Lax-Milgram lemma that, if L is a divergence form elliptic operator, then the Neumann problem with homogeneous boundary data

$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_m \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\nabla^m \vec{u}\|_{L^2(\Omega)} \le \frac{1}{\lambda} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^2(\Omega)}$$

is well posed. By formula (3.2), we have that the Neumann problem

(5.25) 
$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = 0, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$$

is well posed for p = 2 and s = 1/2, in any Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. We must show that well posedness still holds if |p - 2| and |s - 1/2| are small but not necessarily zero.

We will use the following lemma. This lemma appeared originally as [Sne74, Lemma 7]; see also [KM98, Section 2].

**Lemma 5.26.** Let  $(A_0, A_1)$  and  $(B_0, B_1)$  be two compatible couples. For each  $0 < \sigma < 1$ , let  $A_{\sigma} = [A_0, A_1]_{\sigma}$  and  $B_{\sigma} = [B_0, B_1]_{\sigma}$ , where  $[\cdot, \cdot]_{\sigma}$  is the complex interpolation functor of Lions, Calderón, and Krejn.

Suppose that  $T: A_0 + A_1 \mapsto B_0 + B_1$  is a linear operator with  $T(A_0) \subseteq B_0$  and  $T(A_1) \subseteq B_1$ ; by the bound (5.11), T is bounded  $A_{\sigma} \mapsto B_{\sigma}$  for any  $0 < \sigma < 1$ .

Suppose that for some  $\sigma_0$  with  $0 < \sigma_0 < 1$ , we have that  $T : A_{\sigma_0} \mapsto B_{\sigma_0}$  is invertible. Then there is some  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that  $T : A_{\sigma} \mapsto B_{\sigma}$  is invertible for all  $\sigma$  with  $\sigma_0 - \varepsilon < \sigma < \sigma_0 + \varepsilon$ .

Thus, our goal is to reframe well posedness as invertibility of some bounded linear operator on an interpolation scale.

If  $\vec{u} \in \dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ , we will let  $T\vec{u}$  be the element of  $(\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega))^*$  given by  $T\vec{u}(\vec{\varphi}) = \langle A\nabla^m \vec{u}, \nabla^m \vec{\varphi} \rangle_{\Omega}$ . By the bound (2.1) on A, the duality relation (3.3), and the definition of  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ , if 1 and <math>0 < s < 1 then T is bounded  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega) \mapsto (\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p',s'}(\Omega))^*$ .

If  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$ , then we may identify  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  with the element of  $(\dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega))^*$  given by  $\vec{\varphi} \mapsto \langle \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \nabla^m \vec{\varphi} \rangle_{\Omega}$ . By the definition (1.4) of Neumann boundary values,  $\vec{u}$  is a solution to the Neumann problem (5.25) if and only if  $T\vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}$  as elements of  $(\dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega))^*$ . Thus, the Neumann problem (5.25) is well posed if and only if  $T : \dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega) \mapsto (\dot{W}^{p',s'}_{m,av}(\Omega))^*$  is invertible.

In particular, by the above remarks, T is invertible if p = 2 and s = 1/2. By Lemma 5.26, we have that if  $\ell$  is a line in the (s, 1/2)-plane then there is some  $\varepsilon(\ell) > 0$  such that if  $|1/p - 1/2| + |s - 1/2| < \varepsilon(\ell)$  and  $(s, 1/p) \in \ell$  then the Neumann problem (5.25) is well posed. Examining the arguments in [KM98, Section 2], we see that  $\varepsilon(\ell)$  can be bounded from below, independently of  $\ell$ . This completes the proof. Recall that Theorem 1.16 allows us to establish well posedness for certain coefficients B given well posedness for nearby coefficients A. In Section 1.4, we described new well posedness results arising from these theorems and from known results of [BM16b] and [MMW11, MM13a].

The results of [BM16b] were stated in terms of the spaces  $L_{m,av}^{p,s}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$ ,  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$ ,  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$ ,  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$ ,  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$ ,  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$ ,  $\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\mathbb{R}^d_+)$ ,  $\dot{W}_{m,a$ 

6.1. The biharmonic equation. We begin by recalling the following result from [MM13a].

**Theorem 6.1** ([MM13a, Theorems 6.10 and 6.16]). Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded Lipschitz domain in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \geq 2$ , with connected boundary. Then there is some  $\kappa > 0$ , depending on  $\rho$ , d, and the Lipschitz character of  $\Omega$ , such that if  $d \geq 4$  and the condition (1.42) is valid, or if d = 2 or d = 3 and the condition (1.43) is valid, then the Dirichlet problem

(6.2) 
$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = w \quad in \ \Omega, \quad \text{Tr} \ u = f_0, \quad \dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_1^{\Omega} \ u = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}, \\ \|u\|_{F^{p,2}_{s+1/p+1}(\Omega)} \le C\big(\|(f_0, \dot{\boldsymbol{f}})\|_{B^{p,p}_{1,s}(\partial\Omega)} + \|w\|_{F^{p,2}_{s+1/p-3}(\Omega)}\big) \end{cases}$$

has a unique solution for each  $w \in B^{p,p}_{s+1/p-3}(\Omega)$  and each  $(f_0, \dot{f}) \in B^{p,p}_{1,s}(\partial \Omega)$ .

Furthermore, let  $-1/(d-1) < \rho < 1$  and let  $A_{\rho}$  be as in formula (1.46). Under the above assumptions on  $\Omega$ , p and s, the Neumann problem

(6.3) 
$$\begin{cases} \Delta^2 u = w \quad in \ \Omega, \\ \langle \nabla^2 \varphi, \boldsymbol{A}_{\rho} \nabla^2 u \rangle_{\Omega} = \langle \operatorname{Tr}^{\Omega} \varphi, g_0 \rangle_{\partial\Omega} + \langle \dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_1^{\Omega} \varphi, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \rangle_{\partial\Omega} \text{ for all } \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d), \\ \| u \|_{F^{p,2}_{s+1/p+1}(\Omega)} \leq C \| (g_0, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}) \|_{(B^{p',p'}_{1,(1-s)}(\partial\Omega))^*} + C \| w \|_{(F^{p',2}_{2-s+1/p}(\Omega))^*} \end{cases}$$

has a unique solution for each  $w \in (F_{2-s+1/p}^{p',2}(\Omega))^*$  and  $(g_0, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}) \in (B_{1,(1-s)}^{p',p'}(\partial\Omega))^*$ with  $\langle (g_0, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}), (P, \nabla P) \rangle_{\partial\Omega} = \langle w, P \rangle_{\Omega}$  for every linear function P.

In the case d = 3, the Dirichlet problem (6.2) was shown in [MMW11] to be well posed for all p and s satisfying the condition (1.42). Well posedness was also established for solutions in the Besov spaces  $B_{s+1/p+1}^{p,q}(\Omega)$  and more general Triebel-Lizorkin spaces  $F_{s+1/p+1}^{p,q}(\Omega)$ ; however, the stated particular case of  $F_{s+1/p+1}^{p,2}(\Omega)$ suffices for our purposes.

For convenience, we will apply this theorem only in the case w = 0. The space  $B_{1,s}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)$  defined in [MM13a, Section 2] is given by

$$B_{1,s}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega) = \{(f_0, \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}) : f_0 \in B_s^{p,p}(\partial\Omega), \ \dot{\boldsymbol{f}} \in B_s^{p,p}(\partial\Omega), \\ \nu_j \partial_k f_0 - \nu_k \partial_j f_0 = \nu_j f_k - \nu_k f_j \text{ for } 1 \le j \le d \text{ and } 1 \le k \le d.\}$$

The (inhomogeneous) Besov space  $B_s^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)$  is defined via interpolation in [MM13a]; it is well known (see, for example, [MM13b, formulas (2.401), (2.421), (2.490)]) that this definition means that

$$\|f\|_{B^{p,p}_{s}(\partial\Omega)} \approx \|f\|_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)} + \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{p,p}_{s}(\partial\Omega)}$$

where  $\dot{B}_{s}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)$  is as defined in [Barb, Section 2.2] and used elsewhere in this paper.

We comment upon the condition  $\nu_j \partial_k f_0 - \nu_k \partial_j f_0 = \nu_j f_k - \nu_k f_j$ . In this expression  $\nu_j$  denotes the *j*th component of the unit outward normal  $\nu$  to  $\Omega$ , and so if  $f_0$  is defined on  $\partial\Omega$  and lies in the boundary Sobolev space  $\dot{W}_1^p(\partial\Omega)$  then the derivative  $\nu_j \partial_k f_0 - \nu_k \partial_j f_0$  is meaningful. The functions  $f_k$  have the following significance: if  $\mathbf{\dot{f}} \in \dot{W}A_{1,s}^p(\partial\Omega)$ , then  $\mathbf{\dot{f}}$  is an array of functions indexed by multiindices of length 1, that is, by unit vectors; we let  $f_k = f_{\vec{e}_k}$ .

If  $f_0$  is continuous and  $\dot{\mathbf{f}} = \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_1^{\Omega}\varphi$  for some  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , then the compatibility condition  $\nu_j \partial_k f_0 - \nu_k \partial_j f_0 = \nu_j f_k - \nu_k f_j$  almost everywhere on  $\partial\Omega$ , for all  $1 \leq j \leq d$ ,  $1 \leq k \leq d$ , is true if and only if  $f_0 = c_0 + \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_0^{\Omega}\varphi = c_0 + \varphi|_{\partial\Omega}$  for some constant  $c_0$ .

In lieu of defining the Triebel-Lizorkin spaces  $F_{s+1/p+1}^{p,2}(\Omega)$  appearing in Theorem 6.1, we will simply state the following result relating these norms to more familiar norms.

**Lemma 6.4** ([AP98, Proposition S, p. 162]). Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded Lipschitz domain and let u satisfy  $\Delta^2 u = 0$  in  $\Omega$ . Let 1 .

If  $k \ge 0$  is an integer and if  $k \le s + 1/p + 1 \le k + 1$ , then

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla^{k+1} u(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{pk-1-ps} \, dx + \|\nabla^k u\|_{L^p(\Omega)}^p + \|u\|_{L^p(\Omega)}^p \approx \|u\|_{F^{p,2}_{s+1/p+1}(\Omega)}$$

provided either the left-hand side or the right-hand side is finite.

In this section we will derive the following well posedness result.

**Theorem 6.5.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Then there is some  $\kappa > 0$  such that if 0 < s < 1,  $1 , and if <math>d \ge 4$  and the condition (1.42) is valid, or if d = 2 or d = 3 and the condition (1.43) is valid, then the Dirichlet problem

(6.6) 
$$\Delta^2 u = \operatorname{div}_2 \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_1^{\Omega} u = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}, \\ \| u \|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{2,av}(\Omega)} \leq C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{f}} \|_{\dot{W}A^p_{1,s}(\partial\Omega)} + C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$$

has a unique solution for each  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  and each  $\dot{\mathbf{f}} \in WA^p_{1,s}(\partial\Omega)$ .

Let  $-1/(d-1) < \rho < 1$  and let  $A_{\rho}$  be as in formula (1.46). Then there is some  $\kappa > 0$ , depending on  $\rho$ , d, and the Lipschitz character of  $\Omega$ , such that under the above conditions on s and p, the Neumann problem

(6.7) 
$$\Delta^2 u = \operatorname{div}_2 \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \ in \ \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}_{\rho}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} u = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \\ \| u \|_{\dot{W}_{2,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \leq C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \|_{\dot{N}A_{1,s-1}^p(\partial\Omega)} + C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)}$$

has a unique solution for each  $\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  and each  $\dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \in \dot{N}A^p_{1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)$ .

Recall that by [MMW11], if d = 3 then the Dirichlet problem (6.2) is well posed if p and s satisfy the weaker condition (1.42). In a forthcoming paper, we intend to treat the issue of well posedness for p < 1 in much more detail. Therein we will establish well posedness of the revised problem (6.6) if the condition (1.42), and not merely (1.43), is valid; we will also establish similar results if d = 2 or for the Neumann problem.

The remainder of this section will be devoted to the proof of Theorem 6.5. We begin with the following lemma; this lemma will allow us to contend with the  $L^p$  norms of  $\nabla^k u$  and u in Lemma 6.4.

**Lemma 6.8.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded Lipschitz domain, let 0 < s < 1 and  $1 , and let <math>w \in \dot{W}^1_{1,loc}(\overline{\Omega})$ . There is some constant c such that

$$\int_{\Omega} |w - c|^p \le (\operatorname{diam} \Omega)^{1 + ps} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p - 1 - ps} dx$$

provided the right-hand side is finite.

*Proof.* Let  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  and let  $r_{\Omega}$ ,  $c_0$  and V be as in the definition [Barb, Definition 2.2] of Lipschitz domain. Then there are some coordinates and some Lipschitz function  $\psi$  such that  $x_0 = (x'_0, t_0)$ , such that  $V = \{(x', t) : x' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1}, t > \psi(x')\}$  and such that  $B(x_0, r_{\Omega}/c_0) \cap V = B(x_0, r_{\Omega}/c_0) \cap \Omega$ .

and such that  $B(x_0, r_\Omega/c_0) \cap V = B(x_0, r_\Omega/c_0) \cap \Omega$ . Let  $\Delta = \{x' \in \mathbb{R}^{d-1} : |x' - x'_0| < r_\Omega/C_1\}$ , and let  $Q = \{(x', t) : x' \in \Delta, \psi(x') < t < \psi(x') + r_\Omega/C_1\}$  for some large constant  $C_1$ . If  $C_1$  is large enough then  $Q \subset B(x_0, r_\Omega/c_0) \cap \Omega$ .

Let  $\tau$  satisfy  $r_{\Omega}/2C_1 < \tau < r_{\Omega}/C_1$ . Then

$$\left(\int_{Q} |w-c|^{p}\right)^{1/p} \leq \left(\int_{\Delta} \int_{0}^{r_{\Omega}/C_{1}} \left|\int_{t}^{\tau} \partial_{r} w(x',\psi(x')+r) dr\right|^{p} dt dx'\right)^{1/p} + \left(\frac{r_{\Omega}}{C_{1}} \int_{\Delta} |w(x',\psi(x')+\tau)-c|^{p} dx'\right)^{1/p}$$

By Hölder's inequality,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{t}^{\tau} \partial_{r} w(x', \psi(x') + r) \, dr \right|^{p} \\ &\leq \left| \int_{t}^{\tau} |\nabla w(x', \psi(x') + r)|^{p} r^{p-1-ps} \, dr \right| \left| \int_{t}^{\tau} r^{p's-1} \, dr \right|^{p/p'}. \end{split}$$

If s > 0, then the second integral converges and so

$$\left( \int_{Q} |w - c|^{p} \right)^{1/p} \leq C_{p}(r_{\Omega})^{s+1/p} \left( \int_{\Delta} \int_{0}^{r_{\Omega}/C_{1}} |\nabla w(x', \psi(x') + r)|^{p} r^{p-1-ps} \, dr \, dx' \right)^{1/p} \\ + \left( \frac{r_{\Omega}}{C_{1}} \int_{\Delta} |w(x', \psi(x') + \tau) - c|^{p} \, dx' \right)^{1/p}$$

whenever  $r_{\Omega}/2C_1 < \tau < r_{\Omega}/C_1$ . Averaging in  $\tau$ , we see that

$$\begin{split} \left(\int_{Q} |w-c|^{p}\right)^{1/p} &\leq C_{p}(r_{\Omega})^{s+1/p} \left(\int_{Q} |\nabla w(x)|^{p} \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx\right)^{1/p} \\ &+ C \left(\int_{\{x \in Q: \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega) > r_{\Omega}/C\}} |w-c|^{p}\right)^{1/p}. \end{split}$$

Applying a standard patching argument, we see that

$$\int_{\Omega} |w-c|^p \le C_p (\operatorname{diam} \Omega)^{1+ps} \int_{\Omega} |\nabla w(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx + C_p \int_{\{x \in \Omega: \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega) > r_\Omega/C\}} |w-c|^p.$$

Applying the Poincaré inequality to bound the final term completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

We now establish uniqueness of solutions.

**Lemma 6.9.** Let p and s be as in Theorem 6.5, and suppose in addition that  $1/(1-s) \le p < \infty$ .

Then solutions to the problems (6.6) and (6.7) are unique.

*Proof.* Suppose that  $\Delta^2 u = 0$  in  $\Omega$ , that  $u \in \dot{W}_{2,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)$ , and that  $\dot{\mathbf{Tr}}_1^{\Omega} u = 0$  or  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}_{p},0}^{\Omega} u = 0$ . In the Dirichlet case we may normalize u so that  $\mathrm{Tr}^{\Omega} u = 0$  as well. By Theorem 6.1 and Lemma 6.4, it suffices to show that

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla^2 u(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps} \, dx + \|\nabla u\|_{L^p(\Omega)}^p + \|u\|_{L^p(\Omega)}^p < \infty.$$

Observe that  $\partial^{\alpha} u$  is biharmonic in  $\Omega$  for any multiindex  $\alpha$ . By the Caccioppoli inequality ([Cam80, Bar16]), we have that if  $x \in \Omega$ , then

$$\|\nabla^k u\|_{L^2(B(x,\operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)/4))} \le C_{j,k}\operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{j-k}\|\nabla^j u\|_{L^2(B(x,\operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)/2))}$$

for any integers  $k > j \ge 0$ . Thus, by Morrey's inequality,

$$|\nabla^2 u(x)| \leq C \biggl( \int_{B(x, \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)/2)} |\nabla^2 u|^2 \biggr)^{1/2}$$

and so

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla^2 u(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx \le C ||u||^p_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{2,av}(\Omega)}$$

By Lemma 6.8, we have that  $\nabla u \in L^p(\Omega)$ . By the Poincaré inequality, we have that  $u \in L^p(\Omega)$ . This completes the proof.

The following lemma shows that, if  $\mathbf{\dot{f}} \in WA_{1,s}^p(\Omega)$ , then there is some  $f_0$  such that  $f_0, \mathbf{\dot{f}}$  satisfy the conditions of Theorem 6.1; we will use this lemma and Theorem 6.1 to establish existence of solutions.

**Lemma 6.10.** Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$  be a bounded Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Suppose that 0 < s < 1,  $1 \le p < \infty$  and that  $\mathbf{\dot{f}} \in \dot{W}A_{1,s}^p(\Omega)$ .

Let P be the linear function that satisfies

$$\oint_{\partial\Omega} \dot{\boldsymbol{f}} - \nabla P \, d\sigma = 0.$$

Then

$$\|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}} - \nabla P\|_{L^p(\Omega)} \le C(\operatorname{diam} \Omega)^s \|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^p_{1,s}(\Omega)}$$

Furthermore, there is some  $f_0 \in L^p(\partial\Omega) \cap \dot{W}_1^p(\partial\Omega)$  with  $\nu_j \partial_k f_0 - \nu_k \partial_j f_0 = \nu_j (f_k - \partial_k P) - \nu_k (f_j - \partial_j P)$  and with

$$\|f_0\|_{L^p(\partial\Omega)} \le C(\operatorname{diam}\Omega)^{1+s} \|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^p_{1,s}(\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* If  $\dot{\boldsymbol{f}} = \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_{1}^{\Omega}\varphi$  for some smooth compactly supported function  $\varphi$ , then  $f_{0}$  exists and satisfies  $f_{0} = (\varphi - P)|_{\partial\Omega}$ . The bound on  $||f_{0}||_{L^{p}(\partial\Omega)}$  follows from the claimed bound on  $||\dot{\boldsymbol{f}} - \nabla P||_{L^{p}(\Omega)}$  by the Poincaré inequality. Existence of  $f_{0}$  for general  $\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}$  follows by density of such arrays in  $\dot{W}A_{1,s}^{p}(\partial\Omega)$ ; see the definition of  $\dot{W}A_{1,s}^{p}(\partial\Omega)$  in [Barb, Section 2.2].

We are left with the given estimates on  $\dot{f} - \nabla P$ . Suppose without loss of generality that  $\int_{\partial\Omega} \dot{f} d\sigma = 0$ . Then

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} |f(x)|^p \, d\sigma(x) = \int_{\partial\Omega} \left| \int_{\partial\Omega} f(x) - f(y) \, d\sigma(y) \right|^p \, d\sigma(x).$$

By Hölder's inequality,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\partial\Omega} |\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}(x)|^p \, d\sigma(x) &\leq \frac{1}{\sigma(\partial\Omega)} \int_{\partial\Omega} \int_{\partial\Omega} |\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}(x) - \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}(y)|^p \, d\sigma(y) \, d\sigma(x) \\ &\leq \frac{(\operatorname{diam} \Omega)^{d-1+ps}}{\sigma(\partial\Omega)} \int_{\partial\Omega} \int_{\partial\Omega} \frac{|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}(x) - \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}(y)|^p}{|x-y|^{d-1+ps}} \, d\sigma(y) \, d\sigma(x) \end{split}$$

Applying the definition of  $\dot{B}_{s}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)$  (see [Barb, Section 2.2]) completes the proof.

The following lemma establishes existence of solutions in the  $\dot{H} = 0, p \ge 1/(1-s)$  case.

**Lemma 6.11.** Let  $\Omega$  be as in Theorem 6.5. Suppose that 0 < s < 1, that  $1/(1-s) \le p < \infty$ , and that  $-1/(d-1) < \rho < 1$ . Suppose that  $d \ge 4$  and the condition (1.42) is valid, or d = 2 or d = 3 and the condition (1.43) is valid.

Then for each  $\mathbf{\dot{f}} \in \dot{W}A_{1,s}^p(\partial\Omega)$ , there is a solution to the problem

(6.12) 
$$\Delta^2 u = 0 \ in \ \Omega, \quad \mathbf{\dot{T}r}_1^\Omega u = \mathbf{\dot{f}}, \quad \|u\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{2,av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\mathbf{\dot{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^p_{1,s}(\partial\Omega)}.$$

Also, for each  $\dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \in \dot{N}A_{1,s-1}^p(\partial\Omega)$ , there is a solution to the problem

(6.13) 
$$\Delta^2 u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A}_{\rho},0} u = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}, \quad \|u\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A^p_{1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* Without loss of generality we may assume that diam  $\Omega = 1$ . Let  $\dot{f} \in \dot{W}A_{1,s}^p(\partial\Omega)$ . By Theorem 6.1, Lemma 6.4 and Lemma 6.10, there is some u that satisfies

$$\Delta^2 u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \mathbf{\dot{T}r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \mathbf{\dot{f}},$$
$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla^2 u(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial \Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx \le C \|\mathbf{\dot{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A_{1,s}^p(\partial \Omega)}.$$

By Hölder's inequality (if  $p \ge 2$ ) or by [Bar16, Theorem 24] (if p < 2), we have that

$$||u||^p_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{2,av}(\Omega)} \le C \int_{\Omega} |\nabla^2 u(x)|^p \operatorname{dist}(x,\partial\Omega)^{p-1-ps} dx$$

and so the proof is complete.

We now turn to the Neumann problem (6.13). Let  $\dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \in NA_{1,s-1}^{p}(\partial\Omega)$ , and let  $g_{0} = 0$ . If  $(\varphi_{0}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}) \in WA_{1,(1-s)}^{p'}(\partial\Omega)$ , then

$$|\langle (\varphi_0, \dot{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}), (0, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}) \rangle_{\partial \Omega}| \leq C \| \dot{\boldsymbol{\varphi}} \|_{\dot{W}A_{1,1-s}^{p'}(\partial \Omega)} \| \dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \|_{\dot{N}A_{1,s-1}^{p}(\partial \Omega)}.$$

But  $\|\dot{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}\|_{\dot{W}A_{1,1-s}^{p'}(\partial\Omega)} \leq \|(\varphi_0, \dot{\boldsymbol{\varphi}})\|_{B_{1,1-s}^{p',p'}(\partial\Omega)}$ , and so  $\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}$  is a bounded linear operator on  $B_{1,1-s}^{p',p'}(\partial\Omega)$ . We may complete the proof using Theorem 6.1 and Lemma 6.4 as before.

The following lemma allows us to pass to the case  $\dot{H} \neq 0$ . This lemma is a converse to Lemma 4.1.

**Lemma 6.14.** Let *L* be an operator of the form (1.1). Let  $\Omega$  be a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary. Let 0 < s < 1 and (d-1)/(d-1+s) be such $that <math>\vec{\Pi}^L$  is a bounded operator  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega) \mapsto \dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ . Suppose that for every  $\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}} \in \dot{W}A^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)$  there exists a solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Dirichlet problem

(6.15) 
$$L\vec{u} = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \mathbf{\dot{T}r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \mathbf{\dot{\eta}}, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \le C \|\mathbf{\dot{\eta}}\|_{\dot{W}A_{m-1,s}^{p}(\partial\Omega)}$$

Then for each  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  and for each  $\dot{\mathbf{f}} \in \dot{W}A^p_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)$  there is a solution to the Dirichlet problem

$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{T}}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}},$$
$$\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{f}}\|_{\dot{W}A^{p}_{m-1,s}(\partial\Omega)}.$$

Suppose that  $\Omega$  is a Lipschitz domain with connected boundary, 0 < s < 1, and  $1 . Suppose that that for every <math>\dot{\gamma} \in \dot{N}A^p_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)$  there exists a solution  $\vec{u}$  to the Neumann problem

(6.16) 
$$L\vec{u} = 0 \ in \ \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}^{\Omega}_{\boldsymbol{A},0} \ \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}, \quad \|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)} \le C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{\gamma}}\|_{\dot{N}A^{p}_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)}$$

Then for each  $\dot{\mathbf{H}} \in L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)$  and for each  $\dot{\mathbf{g}} \in \dot{N}A^p_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)$  there is a solution to the Neumann problem

$$L\vec{u} = \operatorname{div}_{m} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \ in \ \Omega, \quad \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A}, \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}}^{\Omega} \ \vec{u} = \dot{\boldsymbol{g}},$$
$$\|\vec{u}\|_{\dot{W}_{m,av}^{p,s}(\Omega)} \le C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{H}}\|_{L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega)} + C \|\dot{\boldsymbol{g}}\|_{\dot{N}A^{p}_{m-1,s-1}(\partial\Omega)}.$$

*Proof.* By assumption,  $\vec{\Pi}^L \dot{H} \in \dot{W}^{p,s}_{m,av}(\Omega)$ . Let

$$\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}} = \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \, \vec{\Pi}^L \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}, \qquad \dot{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} = \dot{\mathbf{M}}_m^{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{A} \nabla^m \vec{\Pi}^L \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{H}})$$

where  $\dot{\mathbf{M}}_{m}^{\Omega}$  is as in [Barb, formula (1.8)]. By [Barb, Theorems 5.1 and 7.1],  $\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}} \in \dot{W}A_{m-1,s}^{p}(\partial\Omega)$  and  $\dot{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \in \dot{N}A_{m-1,s-1}^{p}(\partial\Omega)$ .

Let  $\vec{v}$  be the solution to the problem (6.15) or (6.16) with boundary data  $\dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}$ or  $\dot{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{g}}$ . Let  $\vec{u} = \vec{\Pi}^L \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} - \vec{v}$ . Then

$$L\vec{u} = L\vec{\Pi}^L\dot{H} - L\vec{v} = \operatorname{div}_m\dot{H}$$

and either

$$\dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega}\,\vec{u} = \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega}\,\vec{\Pi}^{L}\dot{\boldsymbol{H}} - \dot{\mathbf{T}}\mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega}\,\vec{v} = \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{\eta}} + \dot{\boldsymbol{f}} = \dot{\boldsymbol{f}}$$

or, for every smooth test function  $\vec{\varphi}$ ,

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla^{m} \varphi, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^{m} \vec{u} - \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} &= \langle \nabla^{m} \varphi, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^{m} \vec{\Pi}^{L} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} \rangle_{\Omega} - \langle \nabla^{m} \varphi, \boldsymbol{A} \nabla^{m} \vec{v} \rangle_{\Omega} \\ &= \langle \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{m}^{\Omega} (\boldsymbol{A} \nabla^{m} \vec{\Pi}^{L} \dot{\boldsymbol{H}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{H}}) \rangle_{\partial \Omega} \\ &- \langle \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\mathbf{M}}_{\boldsymbol{A},0}^{\Omega} \vec{v} \rangle_{\partial \Omega} \\ &= \langle \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} \rangle_{\partial \Omega} - \langle \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{\gamma}} - \dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \rangle_{\partial \Omega} \\ &= \langle \dot{\mathbf{T}} \mathbf{r}_{m-1}^{\Omega} \vec{\varphi}, \dot{\boldsymbol{g}} \rangle_{\partial \Omega} \end{split}$$

as desired.

By Lemmas 6.9, 6.11 and 6.14, we have that Theorem 6.5 is valid if 0 < s < 1,  $1/(1-s) \le p < \infty$ , and if  $d \ge 4$  and the condition (1.42) is valid, or if d = 2 or d = 3 and the condition (1.43) is valid.

We may pass to the case 1 using Theorems 4.7 and 4.12. This completes the proof of Theorem 6.5.

6.2. Real symmetric *t*-independent coefficients if m = N = 1 and d = 2. In this section we complete the argument of Remark 1.33 by proving the following lemma.

**Lemma 6.17.** Let  $\Omega = \{(x',t) : x' \in \mathbb{R}, t > \psi(x)\}$  be a Lipschitz graph domain in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Let L be an elliptic operator of the form (1.1) with m = N = 1, associated to real symmetric coefficients A that satisfy the ellipticity conditions (2.1) and (2.2) and are t-independent in the sense of formula (1.29).

Then there is some  $\kappa > 0$  such that the Dirichlet problem (1.13) and the Neumann problem (1.14) are well posed whenever

$$0 < s < 1$$
,  $0 ,  $-\frac{1}{2} - \kappa < \frac{1}{p} - s < \frac{1}{2} + \kappa$ .$ 

We begin with the following known result. The case  $1/q_+ + 1/q_- = 1$ ,  $q_+ = \tilde{q}_+$ , is the Lipschitz graph domain case of [Bar13, Theorem 9.1]; a careful inspection of the proof therein reveals the general case. (For the sake of simplicity we will consider only the Dirichlet case, and derive results for the Neumann problem as in Remark 1.33.)

**Lemma 6.18.** Let L and  $\Omega$  be as in Lemma 6.17. Let  $a : \partial \Omega \mapsto \mathbb{C}$  satisfy

(6.19)  $\|\partial_{\tau}a\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega)} \leq 1/r$ , supp  $a \subset B(x_0, r) \cap \partial\Omega$  for some  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  and r > 0.

Here  $\partial_{\tau}$  is the derivative tangential to  $\partial \Omega$ .

Suppose that for some  $1 < q_- < \infty$  and  $1 < q_+ < \infty,$  the boundary value problems

(6.20)  $Lu = 0 \ in \ \Omega, \quad \operatorname{Tr}^{\Omega} u = f, \quad \|Nu\|_{L^{q_{-}}(\partial\Omega)} \le c_{-}\|f\|_{L^{q_{-}}(\partial\Omega)},$ 

(6.21) 
$$Lu = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad \operatorname{Tr}^{\Omega} u = f, \quad \|N(\nabla u)\|_{L^{q_+}(\partial\Omega)} \le c_+ \|\nabla_{\tau} f\|_{L^{q_+}(\partial\Omega)},$$

are compatibly well posed. Suppose that there is some  $1 < \widetilde{q}_+ < \infty$  such that the boundary value problem

(6.22) 
$$Lu = 0 \text{ in } Q, \quad \text{Tr}^{Q} u = f, \quad \|N(\nabla u)\|_{L^{\widetilde{q}_{+}}(\partial Q)} \le \widetilde{c}_{+} \|\partial_{\tau} f\|_{L^{\widetilde{q}_{+}}(\partial Q)},$$

is well posed whenever  $Q = Q(x'_0, \rho) = \{(x', t) : |x' - x'_0| < \rho, \psi(x') < t < \psi(x') + \rho\}$  for some  $x'_0 \in \mathbb{R}$  and some  $\rho > 0$ .

Then the solution u to the problems (6.20–6.21), with f = a, satisfies

(6.23) 
$$\int_{\partial\Omega} N(\nabla u)(x) \left(1 + |x - x_0|/r\right)^{\kappa} d\sigma(x) \le C$$

for any  $0 < \kappa < 1/q_-$ , where C depends on  $\kappa$ ,  $q_-$ ,  $q_+$ ,  $\tilde{q}_+$ , the Lipschitz character of  $\Omega$ , and the numbers c above.

Here N is the nontangential maximal function common in the literature.

By [Rul07], we have well posedness of the local boundary value problems (6.22) for some (possibly small)  $\tilde{q}_+ > 1$ . By [KP93], we have well posedness of the problem (6.21) for  $q_+ = 2$ , while by [JK81] we have that there is some  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that the problem (6.20) is well posed for all  $2 - \varepsilon < q_- < \infty$ . These problems are compatibly well posed; see the above papers or [AAH08, AM14, AS14].

Fix some a as in Lemma 6.18 and let u be as in Lemma 6.18. Then the estimate (6.23) is valid for all  $0 < \kappa < 1/(2 - \varepsilon)$ .

An elementary argument involving Hölder's inequality shows that if  $1 \ge p_0 > 1/(1+\kappa)$ , then

$$\int_{\partial\Omega} N(\nabla u)(x)^{p_0} \, d\sigma(x) \le Cr^{1-p_0}.$$

By [BM16b, Theorem 7.11] and a change of variables, if  $\Omega$  is a Lipschitz graph domain, then

$$\|u\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{1,av}(\Omega)} \le Cr^{1/p-s}$$

whenever 0 < s < 1,  $p_0 and <math>s - 1/p = 1 - 1/p_0$ .

Let p and s satisfy the given conditions and be such that such a  $p_0$  and  $\kappa$  exist. We impose the additional condition  $p \leq 1$ ; we thus require

$$0 ,  $0 < s < 1$ ,  $1/p - s < 1/(2 - \varepsilon)$ .$$

Let  $f \in \dot{B}_{s}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)$ . Then by [Barb, Definition 2.6], we have that  $f = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{j} a_{j}$ , where  $\sum_{j} |\lambda_{j}|^{p} \approx ||f||_{\dot{B}_{s}^{p,p}(\partial\Omega)}^{p}$  and where  $a_{j}$  satisfies the conditions

$$\operatorname{supp} a_j \subset B(x_j, r_j) \cap \partial\Omega, \quad \|\partial_\tau a_j\|_{L^{\infty}(\partial\Omega)} \le r_j^{s-1-1/p}$$

for some  $x_j \in \partial \Omega$  and some  $r_j > 0$ . Let  $u_j$  be as in Lemma 6.18 with  $a = r_j^{1/p-s} a_j$ and let  $u = \sum_j r_j^{s-1/p} u_j$ ; then

$$\|u\|_{\dot{W}^{p,s}_{1,av}(\Omega)}^{p} \leq C \sum_{j} |\lambda_{j}|^{p} \approx C \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{p,p}_{s}(\partial\Omega)}^{p}$$

and so we have existence of solutions to the Dirichlet problem (6.15) provided 0 < s < 1 and  $1 \leq 1/p < s + 1/(2 - \varepsilon)$ . By [BM16b, Theorem 3.1] and [AT95, Théorème II.2], the Newton potential is bounded  $L^{p,s}_{av}(\Omega) \mapsto \dot{W}^{p,s}_{1,av}(\Omega)$  whenever 0 < s < 1 and  $0 \leq 1/p < 1 + s$ ; thus, by Lemma 6.14, solutions to the problem (1.13) exist whenever  $1 \leq 1/p < s + 1/(2 - \varepsilon)$ .

By [BM16b] (see Theorem 1.30 above), there is some  $q_0$  with  $1 < q_0 < 2$  such that the Dirichlet problem (1.13) is well posed for all 0 < s < 1 and all  $q_0 < q < q'_0$ , where  $1/q_0 + 1/q'_0 = 1$ . We impose the additional assumption that  $1/p - s < 1/q_0$ . There is then some  $\sigma$ , q with  $0 < \sigma < 1$ ,  $q_0 < q < q'_0$ , and  $1/p - s = 1/q - \sigma$ . Solutions to the Dirichlet problem (1.13) with p = q and  $s = \sigma$  are unique; thus, by Corollary 3.8, solutions to the the Dirichlet problem (1.13) with p and s as above are unique.

Furthermore, by Corollary 3.10, the Dirichlet problem with p, s as above and the Dirichlet problem with p = q,  $s = \sigma$  are compatibly well posed in the sense of Lemma 1.22; thus, by Lemma 1.22, we have that the Dirichlet problem is well posed whenever 0 < s < 1,  $0 and <math>1 < 1/p - s < \min(1/q, 1/(2 - \varepsilon))$ .

By Theorem 1.30 and the above remarks, we have well posedness whenever  $0 < s < 1, 0 < p < q'_0$  and  $1/p-s < \min(1/q, 1/(2-\varepsilon))$ . By Theorems 4.7 and 4.12, we have well posedness whenever  $q'_0 and <math>1/p-s > \max(1/(2-\varepsilon), 1/q_0)$ . This completes the proof.

## References

 [AA11] Pascal Auscher and Andreas Axelsson, Weighted maximal regularity estimates and solvability of non-smooth elliptic systems I, Invent. Math. 184 (2011), no. 1, 47–115. MR 2782252 10

- [AA16] Alex Amenta and Pascal Auscher, Abstract Besov-Hardy-Sobolev spaces and elliptic boundary value problems with complex bounded measurable coefficients, arXiv:1607.03852 [math.AP], July 2016. 5
- [AAA<sup>+</sup>11] M. Angeles Alfonseca, Pascal Auscher, Andreas Axelsson, Steve Hofmann, and Seick Kim, Analyticity of layer potentials and L<sup>2</sup> solvability of boundary value problems for divergence form elliptic equations with complex L<sup>∞</sup> coefficients, Adv. Math. 226 (2011), no. 5, 4533–4606. MR 2770458 9
- [AAH08] Pascal Auscher, Andreas Axelsson, and Steve Hofmann, Functional calculus of Dirac operators and complex perturbations of Neumann and Dirichlet problems, J. Funct. Anal. 255 (2008), no. 2, 374–448. MR 2419965 (2009h:35079) 9, 41
- [AAM10] Pascal Auscher, Andreas Axelsson, and Alan McIntosh, Solvability of elliptic systems with square integrable boundary data, Ark. Mat. 48 (2010), no. 2, 253–287. MR 2672609 (2011h:35070) 9
- [Agr07] M. S. Agranovich, On the theory of Dirichlet and Neumann problems for linear strongly elliptic systems with Lipschitz domains, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 41 (2007), no. 4, 1–21, 96, English translation: Funct. Anal. Appl. 41 (2007), no. 4, 247–263. MR 2411602 (2009b:35070) 2, 3
- [AM14] Pascal Auscher and Mihalis Mourgoglou, Boundary layers, Rellich estimates and extrapolation of solvability for elliptic systems, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 109 (2014), no. 2, 446–482. MR 3254931 41
- [AP98] Vilhelm Adolfsson and Jill Pipher, The inhomogeneous Dirichlet problem for  $\Delta^2$ in Lipschitz domains, J. Funct. Anal. **159** (1998), no. 1, 137–190. MR 1654182 (99m:35048) 3, 4, 36
- [AQ00] P. Auscher and M. Qafsaoui, Equivalence between regularity theorems and heat kernel estimates for higher order elliptic operators and systems under divergence form, J. Funct. Anal. 177 (2000), no. 2, 310–364. MR 1795955 (2001j:35057) 5
- [AR12] Pascal Auscher and Andreas Rosén, Weighted maximal regularity estimates and solvability of nonsmooth elliptic systems, II, Anal. PDE 5 (2012), no. 5, 983–1061. MR 3022848 10
- [AS14] Pascal Auscher and Sebastian Stahlhut, A priori estimates for boundary value elliptic problems via first order systems, arXiv:1403.5367v2 [math.CA], jun 2014. 41
- [AT95] Pascal Auscher and Philippe Tchamitchian, Calcul fontionnel précisé pour des opérateurs elliptiques complexes en dimension un (et applications à certaines équations elliptiques complexes en dimension deux), Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 45 (1995), no. 3, 721–778. MR 1340951 (96f:35036) 42
- [Axe10] Andreas Axelsson, Non-unique solutions to boundary value problems for nonsymmetric divergence form equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 362 (2010), no. 2, 661–672. MR 2551501 (2010j:35103) 9
- [Bara] Ariel Barton, Layer potentials for general linear elliptic systems, Electron. J. Differential Equations, to appear. 9
- [Barb] \_\_\_\_\_, Trace and extension theorems relating Besov spaces to weighted averaged Sobolev spaces, Math. Inequal. Appl., to appear. 2, 5, 6, 14, 15, 16, 19, 20, 23, 30, 33, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 42
- [Bar13] \_\_\_\_\_, Elliptic partial differential equations with almost-real coefficients, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 223 (2013), no. 1051, vi+108. MR 3086390 10, 41
- [Bar16] \_\_\_\_\_, Gradient estimates and the fundamental solution for higher-order elliptic systems with rough coefficients, Manuscripta Math. 151 (2016), no. 3-4, 375–418. MR 3556825 5, 26, 27, 28, 30, 38, 39
- [BHMa] Ariel Barton, Steve Hofmann, and Svitlana Mayboroda, The Neumann problem for higher order elliptic equations with symmetric coefficients, Mathematische Annalen, to appear (preprint available at arXiv:1703.06962 [math.AP]). 4, 9
- [BHMb] \_\_\_\_\_, Square function estimates on layer potentials for higher-order elliptic equations, Math. Nachr., to appear (preprint available at arXiv:1508.04988v1 [math.AP]). 2
- [BL76] Jöran Bergh and Jörgen Löfström, Interpolation spaces. An introduction, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, No. 223. MR 0482275 (58 #2349) 30, 31, 33

- [BM13a] Ariel Barton and Svitlana Mayboroda, The Dirichlet problem for higher order equations in composition form, J. Funct. Anal. 265 (2013), no. 1, 49–107. MR 3049881 4, 9
- [BM13b] Kevin Brewster and Marius Mitrea, Boundary value problems in weighted Sobolev spaces on Lipschitz manifolds, Mem. Differ. Equ. Math. Phys. 60 (2013), 15–55. MR 3288169 6, 28
- [BM16a] Ariel Barton and Svitlana Mayboroda, Higher-order elliptic equations in non-smooth domains: a partial survey, Harmonic analysis, partial differential equations, complex analysis, Banach spaces, and operator theory. Vol. 1, Assoc. Women Math. Ser., vol. 4, Springer, [Cham], 2016, pp. 55–121. MR 3627715 2, 4
- [BM16b] \_\_\_\_\_, Layer potentials and boundary-value problems for second order elliptic operators with data in Besov spaces, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 243 (2016), no. 1149, v+110. MR 3517153 3, 4, 5, 9, 10, 32, 35, 42
- [BMMM14] Kevin Brewster, Dorina Mitrea, Irina Mitrea, and Marius Mitrea, Extending Sobolev functions with partially vanishing traces from locally ( $\varepsilon, \delta$ )-domains and applications to mixed boundary problems, J. Funct. Anal. **266** (2014), no. 7, 4314–4421. MR 3170211 6
- [Cam80] S. Campanato, Sistemi ellittici in forma divergenza. Regolarità all'interno, Quaderni. [Publications], Scuola Normale Superiore Pisa, Pisa, 1980. MR 668196 (83i:35067) 5, 38
- [CG83] Jonathan Cohen and John Gosselin, The Dirichlet problem for the biharmonic equation in a C<sup>1</sup> domain in the plane, Indiana Univ. Math. J. **32** (1983), no. 5, 635–685.
   MR 711860 (85b:31004) 4
- [CG85] \_\_\_\_\_, Adjoint boundary value problems for the biharmonic equation on  $C^1$  domains in the plane, Ark. Mat. **23** (1985), no. 2, 217–240. MR 827344 (88d:31006) 2, 4
- [CMS85] R. R. Coifman, Y. Meyer, and E. M. Stein, Some new function spaces and their applications to harmonic analysis, J. Funct. Anal. 62 (1985), no. 2, 304–335. MR 791851 (86i:46029) 9
- [Dah86] Björn E. J. Dahlberg, On the absolute continuity of elliptic measures, Amer. J. Math. 108 (1986), no. 5, 1119–1138. MR 859772 (88i:35061) 10
- [DKV86] B. E. J. Dahlberg, C. E. Kenig, and G. C. Verchota, The Dirichlet problem for the biharmonic equation in a Lipschitz domain, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 36 (1986), no. 3, 109–135. MR 865663 (88a:35070) 4
- [DPP07] Martin Dindoš, Stefanie Petermichl, and Jill Pipher, The L<sup>p</sup> Dirichlet problem for second order elliptic operators and a p-adapted square function, J. Funct. Anal. 249 (2007), no. 2, 372–392. MR 2345337 (2008f:35108) 10
- [DR10] Martin Dindoš and David J. Rule, Elliptic equations in the plane satisfying a Carleson measure condition, Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 26 (2010), no. 3, 1013–1034. MR 2789374 10
- [Fef89] R. Fefferman, A criterion for the absolute continuity of the harmonic measure associated with an elliptic operator, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 2 (1989), no. 1, 127–135. MR 955604 (90b:35068) 10
- [Fef93] Robert A. Fefferman, Large perturbations of elliptic operators and the solvability of the L<sup>p</sup> Dirichlet problem, J. Funct. Anal. **118** (1993), no. 2, 477–510. MR 1250271 (94k:35082) 10
- [FJK84] Eugene B. Fabes, David S. Jerison, and Carlos E. Kenig, Necessary and sufficient conditions for absolute continuity of elliptic-harmonic measure, Ann. of Math. (2) 119 (1984), no. 1, 121–141. MR 736563 (85h:35069) 9
- [FKP91] R. A. Fefferman, C. E. Kenig, and J. Pipher, The theory of weights and the Dirichlet problem for elliptic equations, Ann. of Math. (2) 134 (1991), no. 1, 65–124. MR 1114608 (93h:31010) 10
- [FMM98] Eugene Fabes, Osvaldo Mendez, and Marius Mitrea, Boundary layers on Sobolev-Besov spaces and Poisson's equation for the Laplacian in Lipschitz domains, J. Funct. Anal. 159 (1998), no. 2, 323–368. MR 1658089 (99j:35036) 3
- [Fri82] Avner Friedman, Foundations of modern analysis, Dover Publications, Inc., New York, 1982, Reprint of the 1970 original. MR 663003 25

- [HKMP15] Steve Hofmann, Carlos Kenig, Svitlana Mayboroda, and Jill Pipher, The regularity problem for second order elliptic operators with complex-valued bounded measurable coefficients, Math. Ann. 361 (2015), no. 3-4, 863–907. MR 3319551 9
- [HMM15a] Steve Hofmann, Svitlana Mayboroda, and Mihalis Mourgoglou, Layer potentials and boundary value problems for elliptic equations with complex L<sup>∞</sup> coefficients satisfying the small Carleson measure norm condition, Adv. Math. 270 (2015), 480–564. MR 3286542 9, 10
- [HMM15b] Steve Hofmann, Marius Mitrea, and Andrew J. Morris, The method of layer potentials in L<sup>p</sup> and endpoint spaces for elliptic operators with L<sup>∞</sup> coefficients, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) **111** (2015), no. 3, 681–716. MR 3396088 9
- [Hör03] Lars Hörmander, The analysis of linear partial differential operators. I, Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003, Distribution theory and Fourier analysis, Reprint of the second (1990) edition [Springer, Berlin; MR1065993 (91m:35001a)]. MR 1996773 27
- [JK81] David S. Jerison and Carlos E. Kenig, The Dirichlet problem in nonsmooth domains, Ann. of Math. (2) 113 (1981), no. 2, 367–382. MR 607897 (84j:35076) 41
- [JK95] David Jerison and Carlos E. Kenig, The inhomogeneous Dirichlet problem in Lipschitz domains, J. Funct. Anal. 130 (1995), no. 1, 161–219. MR 1331981 (96b:35042) 3, 4
- [Joh55] Fritz John, Plane waves and spherical means applied to partial differential equations, Interscience Publishers, New York-London, 1955. MR 0075429 (17,746d) 27
- [KM98] Nigel Kalton and Marius Mitrea, Stability results on interpolation scales of quasi-Banach spaces and applications, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 350 (1998), no. 10, 3903– 3922. MR 1443193 (98m:46094) 34
- [KP93] Carlos E. Kenig and Jill Pipher, The Neumann problem for elliptic equations with nonsmooth coefficients, Invent. Math. 113 (1993), no. 3, 447–509. MR 1231834 (95b:35046) 5, 9, 10, 41
- [KP95] \_\_\_\_\_, The Neumann problem for elliptic equations with nonsmooth coefficients. II, Duke Math. J. 81 (1995), no. 1, 227–250 (1996), A celebration of John F. Nash, Jr. MR 1381976 (97j:35021) 10
- [KR09] Carlos E. Kenig and David J. Rule, The regularity and Neumann problem for nonsymmetric elliptic operators, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 361 (2009), no. 1, 125–160. MR 2439401 (2009k:35050) 10
- [KS11a] Joel Kilty and Zhongwei Shen, A bilinear estimate for biharmonic functions in Lipschitz domains, Math. Ann. 349 (2011), no. 2, 367–394. MR 2753826 4
- [KS11b] \_\_\_\_\_, The  $L^p$  regularity problem on Lipschitz domains, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **363** (2011), no. 3, 1241–1264. MR 2737264 (2012a:35072) 4
- [Mey63] Norman G. Meyers, An L<sup>p</sup>-estimate for the gradient of solutions of second order elliptic divergence equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa (3) 17 (1963), 189–206. MR 0159110 (28 #2328) 6
- [MM04] Svitlana Mayboroda and Marius Mitrea, Sharp estimates for Green potentials on non-smooth domains, Math. Res. Lett. 11 (2004), no. 4, 481–492. MR 2092902 (2005i:35059) 3, 5
- [MM10] I. Mitrea and M. Mitrea, On the Dirichlet and regularity problems for the bi-Laplacian in Lipschitz domains, Integral methods in science and engineering. Vol. 1, Birkhäuser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, 2010, pp. 245–254. MR 2663136 (2011d:35143) 4
- [MM13a] Irina Mitrea and Marius Mitrea, Boundary value problems and integral operators for the bi-Laplacian in non-smooth domains, Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Lincei Mat. Appl. 24 (2013), no. 3, 329–383. MR 3097019 3, 13, 35
- [MM13b] \_\_\_\_\_, Multi-layer potentials and boundary problems for higher-order elliptic systems in Lipschitz domains, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2063, Springer, Heidelberg, 2013. MR 3013645 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 27, 35
- [MMS10] V. Maz'ya, M. Mitrea, and T. Shaposhnikova, The Dirichlet problem in Lipschitz domains for higher order elliptic systems with rough coefficients, J. Anal. Math. 110 (2010), 167–239. MR 2753293 (2011m:35088) 3, 4, 6
- [MMW11] I. Mitrea, M. Mitrea, and M. Wright, Optimal estimates for the inhomogeneous problem for the bi-Laplacian in three-dimensional Lipschitz domains, J. Math. Sci. (N. Y.)

**172** (2011), no. 1, 24–134, Problems in mathematical analysis. No. 51. MR 2839870 (2012h:35056) 3, 14, 35, 36

- [Mor54] C. B. Morrey, Jr., Second-order elliptic systems of differential equations, Contributions to the theory of partial differential equations, Annals of Mathematics Studies, no. 33, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J., 1954, pp. 101–159. MR 0068091 (16,827e) 27
- [MT06] Marius Mitrea and Michael Taylor, The Poisson problem in weighted Sobolev spaces on Lipschitz domains, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 55 (2006), no. 3, 1063–1089.
   MR 2244598 (2007e:35051) 28
- [Pee71] Jaak Peetre, Interpolation functors and Banach couples, Actes du Congrès International des Mathématiciens (Nice, 1970), Tome 2, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1971, pp. 373–378. MR 0425636 (54 #13590) 31
- [Pip97] Jill C. Pipher, Littlewood-Paley estimates: some applications to elliptic boundary value problems, Partial differential equations and their applications (Toronto, ON, 1995), CRM Proc. Lecture Notes, vol. 12, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997, pp. 221–238. MR 1479249 (98j:35047) 10
- [PV92] Jill Pipher and Gregory Verchota, The Dirichlet problem in L<sup>p</sup> for the biharmonic equation on Lipschitz domains, Amer. J. Math. 114 (1992), no. 5, 923–972. MR 1183527 (94g:35069) 4
- [PV95] J. Pipher and G. C. Verchota, Maximum principles for the polyharmonic equation on Lipschitz domains, Potential Anal. 4 (1995), no. 6, 615–636. MR 1361380 (96i:35021) 4
- [Rul07] David J. Rule, Non-symmetric elliptic operators on bounded Lipschitz domains in the plane, Electron. J. Differential Equations (2007), No. 144, 1–8. MR 2366037 (2008m:35070) 41
- [Sha45] Z. Shapiro, On elliptical systems of partial differential equations, C. R. (Doklady) Acad. Sci. URSS (N.S.) 46 (1945), 133–135. MR 0012357 (7,14f) 27
- [She06a] Zhongwei Shen, The L<sup>p</sup> Dirichlet problem for elliptic systems on Lipschitz domains, Math. Res. Lett. 13 (2006), no. 1, 143–159. MR 2200052 (2007f:35067) 4
- [She06b] \_\_\_\_\_, Necessary and sufficient conditions for the solvability of the L<sup>p</sup> Dirichlet problem on Lipschitz domains, Math. Ann. 336 (2006), no. 3, 697–725. MR 2249765 (2008e:35059) 4
- [She07] \_\_\_\_\_, A relationship between the Dirichlet and regularity problems for elliptic equations, Math. Res. Lett. 14 (2007), no. 2, 205–213. MR 2318619 (2008c:35043) 4
- [Šne74] I. Ja. Šneĭberg, Spectral properties of linear operators in interpolation families of Banach spaces, Mat. Issled. 9 (1974), no. 2(32), 214–229, 254–255. MR 0634681 (58 #30362) 34
- [SS81] Renata Selvaggi and Irene Sisto, An existence theorem for the Dirichlet problem with respect to the operator  $\Delta^2$  in certain domains of class  $C^1$ , Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B (5) **18** (1981), no. 2, 473–483. MR 629418 (84f:35044) 4
- [Ste93] Elias M. Stein, Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals, Princeton Mathematical Series, vol. 43, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1993, With the assistance of Timothy S. Murphy, Monographs in Harmonic Analysis, III. MR 1232192 (95c:42002) 27, 28
- [Tri78] Hans Triebel, Interpolation theory, function spaces, differential operators, North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 18, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1978. MR 503903 (80i:46032b) 31
- [Ver84] Gregory Verchota, Layer potentials and regularity for the Dirichlet problem for Laplace's equation in Lipschitz domains, J. Funct. Anal. 59 (1984), no. 3, 572–611.
   MR 769382 (86e:35038) 9
- $[Ver87] \qquad \underbrace{\qquad }, \ The \ Dirichlet \ problem \ for \ the \ biharmonic \ equation \ in \ C^1 \ domains, \ Indiana \ Univ. \ Math. \ J. \ 36 \ (1987), \ no. \ 4, \ 867-895. \ MR \ 916748 \ (88m:35051) \ 4 }$
- [Ver90] \_\_\_\_\_, The Dirichlet problem for the polyharmonic equation in Lipschitz domains, Indiana Univ. Math. J. **39** (1990), no. 3, 671–702. MR 1078734 (91k:35073) 4
- [Ver96] Gregory C. Verchota, Potentials for the Dirichlet problem in Lipschitz domains, Potential theory—ICPT 94 (Kouty, 1994), de Gruyter, Berlin, 1996, pp. 167–187. MR 1404706 (97f:35041) 4

[Ver05]	, The biharmonic Neumann problem in Lipschitz domains, Acta Math. <b>194</b> (2005), no. 2, 217–279. MR 2231342 (2007d:35058) 2, 4
[Ver10]	, Boundary coerciveness and the Neumann problem for 4th order linear partial differential operators, Around the research of Vladimir Maz'ya. II, Int. Math. Ser. (N. Y.), vol. 12, Springer, New York, 2010, pp. 365–378. MR 2676183 (2011h:35065) 2
[Zan00]	Daniel Z. Zanger, <i>The inhomogeneous Neumann problem in Lipschitz domains</i> , Comm. Partial Differential Equations <b>25</b> (2000), no. 9-10, 1771–1808. MR 1778780 (2001g:35056) 3

Ariel Barton, Department of Mathematical Sciences, 309 SCEN, University of Arkansas, Fayetteville, AR72701

E-mail address: aeb019@uark.edu